UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

Form F-3

REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933

Azul S.A.

(Exact name of Registrant as specified in its charter)

N/A

(Translation of the Registrant's name into English)

Federative Republic of Brazil (State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization) 4512

(Primary Standard Industrial Classification Code Number)

Not applicable (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

Edifício Jatobá, 8th floor, Castelo Branco Office Park Avenida Marcos Penteado de Ulhôa Rodrigues, 939 Tamboré, Barueri, São Paulo, SP 06460-040, Brazil. +55 (11) 4831 2880

(Address, including zip code, and telephone number, including area code, of Registrant's principal executive offices)

Cogency Global Inc. 10 East 40th Street, 10th Floor New York, NY 10016 (212) 947-7200

(Name, address, including zip code, and telephone number, including area code, of agent for service)

Copies of all communications, including communications sent to agent for service, should be sent to:

Stuart K. Fleischmann, Esq. Shearman & Sterling LLP 599 Lexington Avenue New York, NY 10022

Approximate date of commencement of proposed sale to the public: From time to time after the effective date of this Registration Statement.

If the on	ly securities	being	registered	on this	form a	are being	offered	pursuant	to dividend	or interest	reinvestment	plans,	please of	check the
following box.								•					•	

If any of the securities being registered on this form are to be offered on a delayed or continuous basis pursuant to Rule 415 under the Securities Act of 1933, other than securities offered only in connection with dividend or interest reinvestment plans, check the following box.

If this form is filed to register additional securities for an offering pursuant to Rule 462(b) under the Securities Act, please check the following box and list the Securities Act registration number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering.

If this form is a post-effective amendment filed pursuant to Rule 462(c) under the Securities Act, check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering.

If this Form is a registration statement pursuant to General Instruction I.C. or a post-effective amendment thereto that shall become effective upon filing with the Commission pursuant to Rule 462(e) under the Securities Act, check the following box.

If this Form is a post-effective amendment to a registration statement filed pursuant to General Instruction I.C. filed to register additional securities or additional classes of securities pursuant to Rule 413(b) under the Securities Act, check the following box.

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is an emerging growth company as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act of 1933.

Emerging growth company

If an emerging growth company that prepares its financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards† provided pursuant to Section 7(a)(2)(B) of the Securities Act. \square

CALCULATION OF REGISTRATION FEE

Title of each class of securities to be registered	Amount to be Registered	Proposed maximum aggregate price per unit	Proposed maximum aggregate offering price	Amount of registration fee
Debt Securities	(2)	(2)	(2)	(2)
Preferred shares including in the form of ADSs(1)	(2)	(2)	(2)	(2)

- (1) ADSs, each representing three preferred shares, issuable upon deposit of the preferred shares being registered hereby, have been or will be registered under a separate registration statement on Form F-6.
- (2) A currently indeterminate aggregate initial offering price or number of the securities of each identified class is being registered as may from time to time be offered at indeterminate prices. Separate consideration may or may not be received for securities that are issuable on exercise, conversion or exchange of other securities. In accordance with Rules 456(b) and 457(r) under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, the registrant hereby elects to defer payment of all of the registration fee and will pay the registration fee subsequently in advance or on a pay-as-you-go basis pursuant to Rule 456(b).



Azul S.A.

(Incorporated in the Federative Republic of Brazil)

Debt Securities

Preferred Shares including Preferred Shares in the form of American Depositary Shares

We may from time to time in one or more offerings offer and sell our (i) debt securities, which may be senior, subordinated or junior subordinated and convertible or non-convertible; or (ii) preferred shares, directly or in the form of American depositary shares, or ADSs, each of which represents three preferred shares (which ratio may be changed, as described in "Description of American Depositary Shares") (the preferred shares offered directly and in the form of ADSs are collectively referred as the equity securities, and together with the debt securities are referred as the securities). The preferred shares may be evidenced by an American depositary receipt, or ADR, or may be held in uncertificated form (as described in "Description of American Depositary Shares").

In addition, from time to time, the selling shareholders to be named in an applicable prospectus supplement, or the selling shareholders, may offer and sell the equity securities held by them. The selling shareholders may sell the equity securities through public or private transactions at prevailing market prices or at privately negotiated prices. We will not receive any proceeds from the sale of the equity securities by the selling shareholders.

The securities may be offered and sold in the same offering or in separate offerings; to or through underwriters, dealers, and agents; or directly to purchasers. The names of any underwriters, dealers, or agents involved in the sale of the securities, their compensation and any options to purchase additional securities granted to them will be described in the applicable prospectus supplement. For a more complete description of the plan of distribution of the securities, see the section entitled "Plan of Distribution" beginning on page 42 of this prospectus.

This prospectus describes some of the general terms that may apply to the securities. We and the selling shareholders, as applicable, will provide specific terms of any offering in a supplement to this prospectus. Any prospectus supplement may also add, update, or change information contained in this prospectus. To the extent the applicable prospectus supplement is inconsistent, information in this prospectus is superseded by the information in the applicable prospectus supplement. You should carefully read this prospectus and the applicable prospectus supplement as well as the documents incorporated or deemed to be incorporated by reference in this prospectus before you purchase any of the securities.

Our ADSs are currently listed on the New York Stock Exchange, or NYSE, under the symbol "AZUL". On June 22, 2018, the last reported sale price of our ADSs on NYSE was US\$17.80 per ADS. Our preferred shares are currently listed on the Level 2 (Nível 2) segment of the São Paulo Stock Exchange (B3 S.A.—Brasil, Bolsa, Balcão), or B3, under the symbol "AZUL4". On June 22, 2018, the last reported sale price of our preferred shares on B3 was R\$22.17 per preferred share, equivalent to US\$5.8913 per preferred share, assuming an exchange rate as of June 22, 2018, which is R\$3.7632 to US\$1.00, and, with each ADS representing three preferred shares, this is equivalent to US\$17.6738 per ADS. The applicable prospectus supplement will indicate if the securities offered thereby will be listed on any securities exchange.

Investments in the securities involve risks. See "Risk Factors" on page 6 of this prospectus. You should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties discussed under the heading "Risk Factors" included in the applicable prospectus supplement or under similar headings in other documents which are incorporated by reference in this prospectus.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC, the Brazilian Securities Commission (*Comissão de Valores Mobiliários*), or the CVM, nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved these securities or determined if this prospectus is truthful or complete. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
ABOUT THIS PROSPECTUS	1
WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION	2
INCORPORATION OF DOCUMENTS BY REFERENCE	3
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS	4
RISK FACTORS	6
AZUL S.A	7
USE OF PROCEEDS	8
RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES	9
DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES	10
DESCRIPTION OF DEBT SECURITIES	11
DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK	14
DESCRIPTION OF AMERICAN DEPOSITARY SHARES	26
ENFORCEMENT OF CIVIL LIABILITIES	39
TAXATION	41
SELLING SHAREHOLDERS	41
PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION	42
LEGAL MATTERS	43
EXPERTS	43

You should rely only on the information contained or incorporated by reference in this prospectus and in any accompanying prospectus supplement. No one has been authorized to provide you with different information.

The securities are not being offered in any jurisdiction where the offer or sale is not permitted.

You should not assume that the information contained in or incorporated by reference in this prospectus or any prospectus supplement is accurate as of any date other than the date on the front cover of the applicable document.

In this prospectus, references to "Azul," the "Company," "we," "us" and "our" refer to Azul S.A., a *sociedade por ações* incorporated under the laws of the Federative Republic of Brazil, or Brazil, and its subsidiaries on a consolidated basis, unless the context requires otherwise.

ABOUT THIS PROSPECTUS

This prospectus is part of an automatic shelf registration statement that we filed with the SEC, as a "well-known seasoned issuer" as defined in Rule 405 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Act. By using an automatic shelf registration statement, we may, at any time and from time to time, offer and sell the securities described in this prospectus in one or more offerings. We may also add, update or change information contained in this prospectus by means of a prospectus supplement or by incorporating by reference information that we file or furnish to the SEC. As allowed by the SEC rules, this prospectus and any accompanying prospectus supplement do not contain all of the information included in the registration statement. For further information, we refer you to the registration statement, including its exhibits and the documents incorporated by reference in the registration statement. Statements contained in this prospectus or an applicable prospectus supplement about the provisions or contents of any agreement or other document are not necessarily complete. If the SEC's rules and regulations require that an agreement or document be filed as an exhibit to the registration statement, please see that agreement or document for a complete description of these matters.

You should carefully read this document and the applicable prospectus supplement. You should also read the documents we have referred you to under "Where You Can Find More Information" below for information on the Company, the risks we face and our financial statements. The registration statement and exhibits can be read at the SEC's website or at the SEC as described under "Where You Can Find More Information."

We have not authorized any other person to provide you with different information. If anyone provides you with different or inconsistent information, you should not rely on it. We are not making an offer to sell the securities in any jurisdiction where the offer or sale is not permitted. You should assume that the information appearing in this prospectus, in the applicable prospectus supplement, or any documents incorporated by reference is accurate only as of the date on the front cover of the applicable document. Our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects may have changed since then.

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

We are currently subject to periodic reporting and other informational requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, as applicable to foreign private issuers. Accordingly, we are required to file reports, including annual reports on Form 20-F, and other information with the SEC. All information filed with the SEC can be inspected and copied at the public reference facilities maintained by the SEC at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549. You can request copies of these documents upon payment of a duplicating fee, by writing to the SEC. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further information on the operation of the public reference room. Our SEC filings may also be obtained over the Internet at the SEC's website at www.sec.gov.

As a foreign private issuer, we are not subject to the same disclosure requirements as a domestic U.S. registrant under the Exchange Act. For example, we are not required to prepare and issue quarterly reports. However, we will be required to file annual reports on Form 20-F within the time period required by the SEC, which is currently four months from December 31, the end of our fiscal year. As a foreign private issuer, we are exempt from Exchange Act rules regarding proxy statements and short-swing profits.

This prospectus is part of a registration statement on Form F-3 that we filed with the SEC and does not contain all of the information in the registration statement. You will find additional information about us in the registration statement. Any statement made in this prospectus concerning a contract or other document of ours is not necessarily complete, and you should read the documents that are filed as exhibits to the registration statement or otherwise filed with the SEC for a more complete understanding of the document or matter. Each such statement is qualified in all respects by reference to the document to which it refers. We have also filed a registration statement with the SEC on Form F-6 on February 7, 2017, as amended on March 17, 2017, to register the ADSs.

INCORPORATION OF DOCUMENTS BY REFERENCE

The SEC allows us to "incorporate by reference" the information we file with them. This means that we can disclose important information to you by referring you to those documents. Each document incorporated by reference is current only as of the date of such document, and the incorporation by reference of such documents shall not create any implication that there has been no change in our affairs since the date thereof or that the information contained therein is current as of any time subsequent to its date. The information incorporated by reference is considered to be a part of this prospectus and should be read with the same care. When we update the information contained in documents that have been incorporated by reference by making future filings with the SEC, the information incorporated by reference in this prospectus is considered to be automatically updated and superseded. In other words, in the case of a conflict or inconsistency between information contained in this prospectus and information incorporated by reference in this prospectus, you should rely on the information contained in the document that was filed later.

This prospectus is part of a registration statement on Form F-3 that we filed with the SEC. We are "incorporating by reference" into this prospectus specific documents that we file with the SEC, which means that we can disclose important information to you by referring you to those documents that are considered part of this prospectus. We incorporate by reference the documents listed below, and any future documents that we file with the SEC under Section 13(a), 13(c), 14 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act until the offering of all of the securities covered by a particular prospectus supplement has been completed.

We are incorporating by reference into this prospectus the following documents filed with the SEC (excluding any portions of such documents that have been "furnished" but not "filed" for purposes of the Exchange Act):

- Azul's Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2017 filed with the SEC on April 27, 2018;
- Azul's Report on Form 6-K furnished to the SEC on April 27, 2018, regarding the private transaction for the transfer of Azul's preferred shares by Hainan Airlines to United Airlines;
- Azul's Report on Form 6-K furnished to the SEC on June 1, 2018, regarding the sale and replacement of certain of Azul's airplane fleet;
- Azul's Report on Form 6-K furnished to the SEC on June 1, 2018, regarding the effects of a nationwide truck drivers' strike;
- the description of the securities contained in our registration statement on Form 8-A filed on March 29, 2017 pursuant to Section 12 of the Exchange Act, together with all amendments and reports filed for the purpose of updating that description;
- any future annual reports on Form 20-F filed with the SEC after the date of this prospectus and prior to the termination of the offering of the securities offered by this prospectus; and
- any future reports on Form 6-K that we furnish to the SEC after the date of this prospectus that are identified in such reports as being incorporated by reference in this prospectus.

The documents incorporated by reference in this prospectus are available from us upon request. We will provide a copy of any and all of the information that is incorporated by reference in this prospectus to any person, without charge, upon written or oral request. Requests for such copies should be directed to the following:

Azul S.A.

Edifício Jatobá, 8th floor, Castelo Branco Office Park Avenida Marcos Penteado de Ulhôa Rodrigues, 939 Tamboré, Barueri, São Paulo, SP 06460-040, Brazil Telephone Number: +55 (11) 4831-2880 Attention: Investor Relations Department

Except as provided above, no other information, including, but not limited to, information on our websites is incorporated by reference in this prospectus.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This prospectus, the registration statement of which it forms a part, each prospectus supplement and the documents incorporated by reference into these documents contain forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. We use words such as "anticipates," "believes," "plans," "expects," "future," "intends," "will," "foresee" and similar expressions to identify these forward-looking statements. In addition, from time to time we or our representatives have made or may make forward-looking statements orally or in writing. Furthermore, such forward-looking statements may be included in various filings that we make with the SEC or press releases or oral statements made by or with the approval of one of our authorized executive officers. These forward-looking statements are subject to certain known and unknown risks and uncertainties, as well as assumptions that could cause actual results to differ materially from those reflected in these forward-looking statements. Factors that might cause actual results to differ include, but are not limited to, those discussed in "Risk Factors" included in documents we file from time to time with the SEC that are incorporated by reference herein, including in our most recent Annual Report on Form 20-F, which is incorporated by reference herein. Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on any forward-looking statements contained herein, which reflect management's opinions only as of the date hereof. Except as required by law, we undertake no obligation to revise or publicly release the results of any revision to any forward-looking statements. You are advised, however, to consult any additional disclosures we have made or will make in our reports to the SEC on Forms 20-F and on Forms 6-K that are designated as being incorporated by reference into this prospectus. All subsequent written and oral forward-looking statements attributable to us or persons acting on our behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by the cautionary statements contained in this prospectus.

These estimates and forward-looking statements are based mainly on our current expectations and estimates of future events and trends that affect or may affect our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flow, liquidity, prospects and the trading price of our preferred shares, including in the form of ADSs. Although we believe that these estimates and forward-looking statements are based upon reasonable assumptions, they are subject to many significant risks, uncertainties and assumptions and are made in light of information currently available to us.

These statements appear throughout this prospectus and include statements regarding our intent, belief or current expectations in connection with:

- · changes in market prices, customer demand and preferences and competitive conditions;
- general economic, political and business conditions in Brazil, particularly in the geographic markets we serve as well as any other countries we currently serve and may serve in the future;
- our ability to keep costs low;
- existing and future governmental regulations;
- increases in maintenance costs, fuel costs and insurance premiums;
- our ability to maintain landing rights in the airports that we operate;
- air travel substitutes;
- labor disputes, employee strikes and other labor-related disruptions, including in connection with negotiations with unions;
- our ability to attract and retain qualified personnel;
- our aircraft utilization rate;
- defects or mechanical problems with our aircraft;

- our ability to successfully implement our growth strategy, including our expected fleet growth, passenger growth, our capital expenditure plans, our future joint venture and partnership plans, our ability to enter new airports (including certain international airports), that match our operating criteria;
- management's expectations and estimates concerning our future financial performance and financing;
- plans and programs;
- our level of debt and other fixed obligations;
- our reliance on third parties, including changes in the availability or increased cost of air transport infrastructure and airport facilities;
- inflation, appreciation, depreciation and devaluation of the real;
- our aircraft and engine suppliers; and
- other factors or trends affecting our financial condition or results of operations.

RISK FACTORS

Any investment in the securities involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider and evaluate all of the information included and incorporated by reference in this prospectus or any applicable prospectus supplement, including the risk factors incorporated by reference from our Annual Report on Form 20-F for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017, or the 2017 Annual Report, including the categories of risks identified and discussed in the "Risk Factors" section of the 2017 Annual Report, which may be amended, supplemented or superseded from time to time by any applicable prospectus supplement and by other reports we file with the SEC in the future that are incorporated herein by reference. We encourage you to read these risk factors in their entirety. In addition to these risks, other risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial may also adversely affect our business operations and financial condition. Such risks could cause actual results to differ materially from anticipated results. This could cause the trading price of the securities to decline, perhaps significantly, and investors may lose part or all of their investment. You should not purchase the securities described in this prospectus unless you understand and know you can bear all of the investment risks involved.

In general, investing in the securities of issuers in emerging market countries such as Brazil involves risks that are different from the risks associated with investing in the securities of U.S. companies and companies located in other countries with more developed capital markets.

AZUL S.A.

Azul was founded on January 3, 2008 by entrepreneur David Neeleman and began operations on December 15, 2008. Backed by Mr. Neeleman and other strategic shareholders, we have benefitted from our partnerships and have invested in a robust and scalable operating platform. We have a management team that effectively combines local market expertise with diversified international experience and knowledge of best practices from the United States, the largest aviation market in the world.

We are the largest airline in Brazil in terms of departures and cities served, with 739 daily departures to 106 destinations, creating an unparalleled network of 206 non-stop routes as of March 31, 2018. As the sole airline on 71% of our routes, we are the leading airline in 66 Brazilian cities in terms of departures in the three months ended March 31, 2018. In addition to having an extensive network, optimized fleet, and a high quality service, we wholly own our loyalty program TudoAzul, a strategic revenue-generating asset.

We are incorporated as a Brazilian *sociedade por ações* under the corporate name Azul S.A. Our headquarters are at Edifício Jatobá, 8th floor, Castelo Branco Office Park, Avenida Marcos Penteado de Ulhôa Rodrigues, 939, Tamboré, Barueri, São Paulo, SP 06460-040, Brazil. We are registered with the Board of Trade of the state of São Paulo under corporate registration number, or NIRE, number 35.300.361.130. We have been registered with the CVM as a publicly held corporation since April 7, 2017.

USE OF PROCEEDS

Except as may be described otherwise in a prospectus supplement, we will add the net proceeds from the sale of debt securities under this prospectus to our general funds and will use them for working capital and other general corporate purposes.

Unless otherwise indicated in an applicable prospectus supplement, in the case of a primary offering, we intend to use the net proceeds from the sale of the securities under this prospectus for general corporate purposes. Further details relating to the use of the net proceeds from the sale of securities under this prospectus will be set forth in the applicable prospectus supplement.

In the case of a secondary offering of equity securities, we will not receive any of the proceeds of the sale by any selling shareholders of the equity securities covered by this prospectus.

RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES

The following table contains the consolidated ratios of earnings to fixed charges for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016, 2015, 2014 and 2013 and the three-months ended March 31, 2018 and 2017.

	For the months Marc	ended	For the year ended December 31,						
(R\$, in thousands)	2018	2017	2017	2016	2015	2014	2013		
Net income (loss) before income tax									
and social contribution	270,085	60,498	597,844	17,666	(1,077,425)	(87,464)	96,183		
Add fixed charges (set forth below).	152,011	163,431	650,312	781,526	737,628	513,085	387,296		
Less capitalized borrowing costs		(81)		(197)	(1,401)	(1,230)	(1,308)		
Earnings	422,096	223,848	1,248,156	798,995	(341,198)	424,391	482,171		
Interest expenses:									
Interest on loans	47,708	77,188	278,840	399,873	378,346	313,057	230,882		
Capitalized borrowing costs	_	81	_	197	1,401	1,230	1,308		
Rental interest expenses*	104,303	86,162	371,472	381,456	357,881	198,798	155,106		
Fixed charges	152,011	163,431	650,312	781,526	737,628	513,085	387,296		
charges)	2.78	1.37	1.92	1.02	(0.46)	0.83	1.24		

^(*) One third of operating lease expenses

DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES

This prospectus contains summary descriptions of the debt securities and preferred shares, directly or in the form of ADSs, that we may offer and sell from time to time. These summary descriptions are not meant to be complete descriptions of each security. The particular terms of any security will be described in the applicable prospectus supplement.

DESCRIPTION OF DEBT SECURITIES

We may offer secured or unsecured debt securities, which may be senior, subordinated or junior subordinated, and which may be convertible. We may issue debt securities in one or more series.

Any debt securities that we issue will be governed by a document called an indenture. The form of indenture is filed as an exhibit to the registration statement of which this prospectus forms a part. The indenture is a contract entered into between us and a trustee. The trustee has two main roles:

- first, the trustee can enforce your rights against us if we default, although there are some limitations on the extent to which the trustee acts on your behalf that are described in the indenture; and
- second, the trustee performs administrative duties for us, such as sending interest payments to you, transferring your debt securities to a new buyer if you sell and sending notices to you.

Together or separately, we may issue as many distinct series of debt securities under the indenture as are authorized by the corporate bodies that are required under applicable law and our corporate organizational documents to authorize the issuance of debt securities. Specific issuances of debt securities will also be governed by a supplemental indenture, an officer's certificate or a document evidencing the authorization of any such corporate body, as will be described in na applicable prospectus supplement.

The following description briefly sets forth certain general terms and provisions of the debt securities. The particular terms of the debt securities offered by any prospectus supplement and the extent, if any, to which these general provisions may apply to the debt securities will be described in the applicable prospectus supplement. The terms of the debt securities will include those set forth in the indenture and any related securities documents and terms made a part of the indenture by the Trust Indenture Act of 1939. You should read the summary below, the applicable prospectus supplement and the provisions of the indenture and any related security documents, if any, in their entirety before investing in our debt securities. Capitalized terms used in the summary have the meanings specified in the indenture.

The prospectus supplement relating to any series of debt securities that we may offer will contain the specific terms of the debt securities. These terms may include the following:

- the title and aggregate principal amount of the series of debt securities;
- the guarantors of each series, if any, and the extent of the guarantees (including provisions relating to seniority, subordination, security and release of the guarantees), if any;
- whether the debt securities will be senior, subordinated or junior subordinated, and any applicable subordination provisions for any subordinated debt securities;
- any restriction or condition on the transferability of the debt securities;
- whether the debt securities are secured and the terms of such security;
- the purchase price, denomination and any limit upon the aggregate principal amount of the series of debt securities;
- the date or dates on which the principal of and premium, if any, on the series of debt securities is payable or the method of determination thereof;
- the interest rate(s) at which the series of debt securities will bear interest or the method for determining the interest rate(s), the date or dates from which such interest will accrue or the method for determining that date or those dates, the dates on which interest will be payable and the regular record date, if any, for the interest payable on any interest payment date;

- the place or places where the principal, any premium and any interest on the series of debt securities will be payable;
- the place or places where the series of debt securities may be exchanged or transferred;
- any redemption or early repayment provision;
- our obligation or right to redeem, purchase or repay the series of debt securities under a sinking fund, amortization or analogous provision;
- authorized denominations;
- the form or forms of the debt securities of the series including such legends as may be required by applicable law;
- the currency, currencies or currency units in which the purchase price for, the principal of and any premium and any interest on, the series of debt securities will be payable;
- the time period within which, the manner in which and the terms and conditions upon which the purchaser of the debt securities can select the payment currency;
- the portion of the principal amount that will be payable upon declaration of acceleration in connection with the occurrence of an event of default or the method by which such portion will be determined;
- any covenants applicable to the series of debt securities being issued, any defaults and events of
 default applicable to the series of debt securities being issued, and whether those additional or
 modified events of default or covenants are subject to covenant defeasance;
- provisions, if any, granting special rights to holders upon the occurrence of specified events;
- whether provisions relating to covenant defeasance and legal defeasance apply to that series of debt securities;
- provisions relating to satisfaction and discharge of the indenture;
- provisions relating to the modification of the indenture both with and without the consent of holders of debt securities issued under the indenture;
- the identity of the registrar and any paying agent;
- whether such debt securities will be issued in whole or in part in the form of one or more global securities, the identity of the depositary for global securities, the form of any legends borne by the global securities and the terms upon which beneficial interests in a global security may be exchanged in whole or in part for beneficial interests in individual definitive securities;
- the date as of which any global security of any series shall be dated if other than the original issuance of the first security of the series to be issued;
- whether the series of debt securities are convertible or exchangeable into other securities; and
- any other terms of the debt securities (which terms shall not be inconsistent with the provisions of the TIA, but may modify, amend, supplement or delete any of the terms of the indenture with respect to such series of debt securities).

General

We may sell the debt securities, including original issue discount securities, at par or at a substantial discount below their stated principal amount. Unless we inform you otherwise in a prospectus supplement, we may issue additional debt securities of a particular series without the

consent of the holders of the debt securities of such series outstanding at the time of issuance. Any such additional debt securities, together with all other outstanding debt securities of that series, will constitute a single series of securities under the indenture. In addition, we will describe in the applicable prospectus supplement, material U.S. federal income tax considerations and any other special considerations for any debt securities we sell which are denominated in a currency or currency unit other than U.S. dollars.

Unless we inform you otherwise in a prospectus supplement, debt securities will be issued in fully registered form without coupons and in denominations of \$200,000 and multiples of \$1,000 in excess thereof. Subject to the limitations provided in the indenture and in the applicable prospectus supplement, debt securities that are issued in registered form may be transferred or exchanged at the corporate office of the trustee or the principal corporate trust office of the trustee, without the payment of any service charge, other than any tax or other governmental charge payable in connection therewith.

Global Securities

Unless we inform you otherwise in the applicable prospectus supplement, the debt securities of a series may be issued in whole or in part in the form of one or more global securities that will be deposited with, or on behalf of, a depositary identified in the applicable prospectus supplement or free writing prospectus, as the case may be. Global securities will be issued in registered form and in either temporary or definitive form. Unless and until it is exchanged in whole or in part for the individual debt securities, a global security may not be transferred except as a whole by the depositary for such global security to a nominee of such depositary or by a nominee of such depositary to such depositary or another nominee of such depositary or by such depositary or any such nominee to a successor of such depositary or a nominee of such successor. The specific terms of the depositary arrangement with respect to any debt securities of a series and the rights of and limitations upon owners of beneficial interests in a global security will be described in the applicable prospectus supplement or free writing prospectus, as the case may be.

Governing Law

The indenture and the debt securities shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the laws of the State of New York.

DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK

The following is a brief summary of certain significant provisions of our bylaws, Brazilian corporate law, and the rules and regulations of the CVM and of the Level 2 segment of B3. This discussion does not purport to be complete and is qualified by reference to our bylaws, and of those laws, rules and regulations. For a summary of certain of your rights as a shareholder of a company listed on the Level 2 segment of B3, see "—Voting Rights" below.

General

We are incorporated as a Brazilian *sociedade por ações* under the corporate name Azul S.A. Our headquarters are at Edifício Jatobá, 8th floor, Castelo Branco Office Park, Avenida Marcos Penteado de Ulhôa Rodrigues, 939, Tamboré, Barueri, São Paulo, SP 06460-040, Brazil. We are registered with the Board of Trade of the state of São Paulo under corporate registration number, or NIRE, number 35.300.361.130. We have been registered with the CVM as a publicly held corporation since April 7, 2017.

Our preferred shares are listed on the Level 2 segment of B3 since April 11, 2017. This listing requires us to comply with the corporate governance and disclosure rules of the Level 2 segment of B3.

Issued Capital Stock

As of the date of this prospectus, our total capital stock was approximately R\$2.2 billion, fully paid-in and divided into 1,252,930,395 shares, all nominative, in book-entry form and without par value, consisting of 928,965,058 common shares and 323,965,337 preferred shares.

Treasury Stock

As of the date of this prospectus we had 500,000 preferred shares in our treasury.

Corporate Purpose

The corporate purpose of our Company, as stated in our bylaws, is as follows:

- to hold direct or indirect equity interest in other companies of any type whose activity is one of more of the following:
- operating national or international passenger, cargo or postal air transportation services under concessions granted by the competent authorities;
- operating activities incidental to passenger, cargo, and postal air transportation;
- carrying out aircraft, engine and other maintenance and repair services, whether for ourselves or for or third parties;
- providing hangar space for aircraft services;
- providing ground handling services, catering, and aircraft cleaning services;
- · acquiring or renting aircraft or related assets;
- development and management of customer loyalty programs, whether for ourselves or for third parties;
- sale of awards redemption rights under customer loyalty program;
- · providing tourism and travel services; and
- other activities incidental or related to the foregoing.

Shareholders' Agreement

General

On May 25, 2012, and as amended from time to time, our principal shareholder entered into an Investment Agreement with the former shareholders of TRIP Linhas Aéreas S.A., or TRIP, referred to herein as the Investment Agreement, which provides TRIP's former shareholders with certain rights related to the control of our Company. On June 26, 2015, the Investment Agreement was amended by the Fourth Amendment to the Investment Agreement to include Calfinco, Inc., or Calfinco, as a party, and on August 3, 2016, the Investment Agreement was amended by the Fifth Amendment to the Investment Agreement to include Hainan Airlines Holding Co., Ltd., or Hainan, as a party. This agreement, as amended, provides that upon the effectiveness of an initial public offering, which happened in 2017, we and our current shareholders will be obligated in connection therewith to execute an agreed form of Shareholders' Agreement that is attached to the Investment Agreement, which shall become effective at such time, referred to herein as the Shareholders' Agreement. Pursuant to the form of Shareholders' Agreement that has been agreed to by us, our principal shareholder, TRIP's former shareholders, Calfinco and Hainan, the agreement, once it comes into effect, will remain in effect until the earlier of (i) twenty years as of the date of its execution or (ii) such time as TRIP's former shareholders together hold less than 5% of our common shares. For purposes of the discussion below, we refer to (i) Mr. Neeleman and TRIP's former shareholders together as the Principal Common Shareholders and (ii) Calfinco and Hainan together as the Principal Preferred Shareholders. All common shares held by the Principal Common Shareholders at the date of the Shareholders' Agreement, or which they may acquire in the future, and all preferred shares held by the Principal Preferred Shareholders at the date of the Shareholders' Agreement, or which they may acquire in the future, are subject to the Shareholders' Agreement.

Under the Shareholders' Agreement, for as long as TRIP's former shareholders collectively hold at least 5% of our common shares, a majority of TRIP's former shareholders is required in order to approve any changes that, by amending the following provisions of our bylaws, may materially affect the rights of TRIP's former shareholders:

- the quorum required for decisions of our board of directors;
- the powers of our board of directors; and
- the rules for calling, installing or reducing powers and other provisions regarding the meetings of our board of directors.

Furthermore, under the Shareholders' Agreement, for as long as TRIP's former shareholders collectively hold at least 5% of our common shares, changes to our bylaws that change the total number of directors of our board of directors, which must remain composed of 14 members, must necessarily be approved by a majority of TRIP's former shareholders. However, a majority of TRIP's former shareholders is not necessary to approve an amendment that increases the size of our board of directors if TRIP's former shareholders are guaranteed representation proportional to that which they had before such amendment.

Election of Board Members

As a general rule, pursuant to the Shareholders' Agreement, a person who has a relationship (including as an investor, manager, executive, employee, consultant or representative) with any of our competitors or their subsidiaries may not serve as a member of our board, unless the competitor or its subsidiary is one of our shareholders or an affiliate of a shareholder.

Election of Board Members by David Neeleman

For so long as TRIP's former shareholders have the right to elect one or more directors pursuant to the mechanisms described above and subject to Calfinco and Hainan's right to appoint members of the board of directors, Mr. Neeleman may appoint the remaining members of the board of directors of the Company along with their alternates, and may dismiss or replace any of those members. In the event that the other holders of common shares or preferred shares exercise their right for multiple vote procedure in the election of members of the board of directors, in accordance with Brazilian corporate law, the number of directors elected by such shareholders shall be deducted from the number of directors that Mr. Neeleman has the right to appoint.

Of the board members who may be appointed by Mr. Neeleman, at least two must be independent directors, according to the regulations of the Level 2 segment of B3, and at least one must be nominated by the shareholder who holds the largest number of our preferred shares at the time. If such shareholder is unable to or fails to nominate a director, then the shareholder holding the second largest number of our preferred shares may make the nomination and so on.

Furthermore, Mr. Neeleman, any of his permitted transferees or any company controlled by Mr. Neeleman shall abstain from voting in any resolution and from taking part in any decision related to the conversion of TAP bonds into TAP equity securities.

Election of Board Members by TRIP's former shareholders

The Shareholders' Agreement provides that all the Principal Common Shareholders and the Principal Preferred Shareholders must vote in favor of electing directors as follows:

- so long as TRIP's former shareholders collectively hold at least 20% of our common shares, they may appoint three directors, along with their alternates, and may dismiss or replace any of those three directors;
- if TRIP's former shareholders collectively hold at least 10%, but less than 20% of our common shares, they may appoint two directors, along with their alternates, and may dismiss or replace both of those directors; and
- if TRIP's former shareholders collectively hold at least 5%, but less than 10% of our common shares, they may appoint one director, plus an alternate, and may dismiss or replace such director.

Election of Board Members by Calfinco

The Shareholders' Agreement provides that all the Principal Common Shareholders and the Principal Preferred Shareholders must vote in favor of electing directors as follows:

• so long as Calfinco holds at least 50% of the preferred shares resulting from the conversion of Class C preferred shares that were held as of August 3, 2016, Calfinco may appoint one director, along with his or her alternate, and may dismiss or replace this director.

Election of Board Members by Hainan

The Shareholders' Agreement provides that all the Principal Common Shareholders and the Principal Preferred Shareholders must vote in favor of electing directors as follows:

• so long as Hainan holds at least a 20% economic interest in the Company and owns the largest percentage economic interest in the Company, taking into account TRIP's former shareholders as a single shareholding block, Hainan may appoint three directors, along with their alternates, and may dismiss or replace any of those three directors;

- if Hainan holds at least a 10%, but less than a 20% economic interest in the Company, Hainan may appoint two directors, along with their alternates, and may dismiss or replace both of those directors;
- if Hainan holds at least a 5%, but less than a 10% economic interest in the Company, Hainan may appoint one director, plus an alternate, and may dismiss or replace such director; and
- in any case, no director appointed by Hainan may be a U.S. citizen or resident.

Transfers of Shares

The tag-along right and right of first offer described below do not apply to transfers of common shares to the Principal Preferred Shareholders or to affiliates of the Principal Common Shareholders. In addition, shareholders must, in any event, submit any request for the transfer of common shares to the *Agência Nacional de Aviação Civil*, or the Brazilian National Civil Aviation Agency, for prior approval.

Tag-Along Rights

If Mr. Neeleman intends to sell any of his common shares to a third party, he must give TRIP's former shareholders an opportunity (i) to participate in the sale on the same terms and (ii) to sell an equivalent amount of common shares so that the proportion of common shares between Mr. Neeleman and TRIP's former shareholders remains the same. TRIP's former shareholders must give Mr. Neeleman the same opportunity if they intend to sell any of their common shares.

Rights of First Offer

If Mr. Neeleman intends to sell any common shares in such a manner that, after such sale, the common shares held by Mr. Neeleman come to represent less than 50% plus one of our common shares, in each subsequent sale of common shares, he must first offer those shares to TRIP's former shareholders before offering them to any third party. His offer to TRIP's former shareholders must specify the number of common shares he intends to sell, the intended price per share, the payment conditions and any other relevant conditions. TRIP's former shareholders may then purchase those shares at or above the specified terms, as described in the Shareholders' Agreement.

If TRIP's former shareholders wish to sell any of their common shares, they must first offer those shares to Mr. Neeleman before offering them to any third party. Their offer to Mr. Neeleman must specify the number of common shares they intend to sell, the intended price per share, the payment conditions and any other relevant conditions. Mr. Neeleman may then purchase those shares at or above the specified terms.

If either Mr. Neeleman or TRIP's former shareholders, as the case may be, decline the right of first offer, the seller may pursue the intended sale to the third party at or above the price originally contemplated.

Termination

The Shareholders' Agreement will remain in effect until the earlier of twenty years as of the date of its execution or such time as TRIP's former shareholders together hold less than 5% of our common shares.

Rights of our Common and Preferred Shares

Each of our common shares entitles the holder to cast one vote at our shareholders' meetings. Holders of our common shares that are fully paid-in may convert them into preferred shares, at the

ratio of 75.0 common shares for 1.0 preferred share pursuant to our by-laws. However, the total number of preferred shares outstanding may never exceed 50% of our total shares.

Our preferred shares are non-voting, except with regard to certain limited matters for as long as we are listed on the Level 2 segment of B3, as described below under "—Voting Rights."

Our preferred shares have the following additional rights as compared to our common shares:

- the right to participate in a public tender offer for control of Azul, on the same terms and conditions (taking into account the conversion ratio of 75.0 common shares to 1.0 preferred share) as are offered to our controlling shareholder (the minimum price per common or preferred share to be offered for such common or preferred shares shall be at least 75 times the price per share paid for the controlling stake);
- the right to receive, upon any liquidation of Azul, capital reimbursement priority over common shares in an amount equal to our capital stock multiplied by the dividend participation to which the preferred shares are entitled (as determined by the formula set forth in Paragraph (l) of Article 54 of our bylaws);
- the right to receive, upon any liquidation of Azul and after (i) any reimbursement provided by the capital reimbursement priority described above and (ii) the capital reimbursement of common shares in an amount equal to the total remaining assets payable to shareholders multiplied by the preferred shares' dividend participation; and
- the right to receive dividends 75 times greater than the dividends payable on each common share.

Reimbursement and Right of Withdrawal

Under Brazilian corporate law, "dissenting shareholders" including shareholders who have no voting rights have the right to withdraw from a company and receive full reimbursement for the value of all their shares in certain circumstances. For purposes of this right of withdrawal, "dissenting shareholders" include shareholders who vote against a specific resolution, as well as those who abstain from voting or fail to appear at the shareholders' meeting.

This right of withdrawal and reimbursement arises if any of the following matters are decided upon at a shareholders' meeting:

- 1. creation of a new class of preferred shares or a disproportionate increase in an existing class of preferred shares relative to other classes of shares, unless such action is provided for in or authorized by our bylaws, which, as of the date of this prospectus, is not the case;
- 2. modification to the preference, privilege or conditions for redemption or amortization granted to one or more classes of preferred shares, or the creation of a new class of preferred shares with greater privileges than the existing classes of preferred shares;
- 3. reduction of the mandatory dividend;
- 4. consolidation or merger into another company;
- 5. participation in a group of companies (*grupo de sociedades*), as defined by Brazilian corporate law;
- 6. the transfer of all shares to another company or receipt of shares by another company, in such a way as to make the company whose shares were transferred a wholly-owned subsidiary of the other;
- 7. changes to our corporate purpose; or

8. a spin-off that results in (i) a change to our corporate purpose (unless the spun-off company's assets and liabilities are transferred to a company that has substantially the same corporate purpose); (ii) a reduction in any mandatory dividend (although in our case, our preferred shares do not carry mandatory dividends); or (iii) any participation in a group of companies.

In the case of items 1. and 2. above, only holders of the class or type of shares adversely affected may exercise a right of withdrawal.

The right of withdrawal also arises if a spin-off or merger occurs but the new company fails to register as a public stock corporation (and, if applicable, fails to list its shares on the stock exchange) within 120 days of the date of the shareholders' meeting that approved the spin-off or merger.

In the event that our shareholders approve any resolution for us to:

- consolidate or merge with another company;
- transfer all our shares to another company or acquire all the shares of another company; or
- become part of a group of companies,

then any dissenting shareholder may exercise a right of withdrawal, but only if that shareholder's class of shares fails to satisfy certain liquidity tests at the time of the shareholders' meeting approving the merger, acquisition, sale or consolidation.

The right of withdrawal expires 30 days after publication of the minutes of the shareholders' meeting that approved the relevant event. In addition, any resolution regarding items 1. or 2. above requires ratification by the majority of shareholders holding preferred shares at a special shareholders' meeting to be held within one year. In such cases, the 30-day deadline begins on the date of publication of the minutes of the special shareholders' meeting. If we were to believe that the exercise of withdrawal rights would be prejudicial to our financial stability, we would have ten days after the expiration of that 30-day deadline to reconsider the resolution that triggered the withdrawal rights.

Brazilian corporate law provides that in order for any withdrawal rights to be exercised, any shares to be withdrawn and redeemed must have a value greater than the book value per share, calculated by reference to the latest balance sheet approved at a shareholders' meeting. If more than 60 days have passed since the date of that balance sheet, the shareholders wishing to exercise the withdrawal right may request a new valuation.

The sale of our controlling stake in Azul Linhas Aéreas Brasileiras S.A. to a third party would be considered a change in our corporate purpose, which would give our shareholders withdrawal rights.

Capital Increases and Preemptive Rights

Each of our shareholders has preemptive rights to subscribe for any new shares that increase our capital stock (and any warrants or other securities convertible into new shares) in direct proportion to the equity interest held by them, considering the participation in dividends. Preemptive rights may be exercised during the period of up to 30 days following the publication of notice of the capital increase. If the capital increase applies in equal proportion to all existing types and classes of shares, each shareholder's preemptive rights would apply only to the type and class of shares currently held by such shareholder. If, however, an exercise of preemptive rights would result in a change to the proportional composition of our capital stock, the preemptive rights may be exercised over the types and classes identical to those already held by the shareholders only. The preemptive rights may only extend to any other shares if necessary to ensure the shareholders receive the same proportion of our capital stock as they had prior to the increase in capital. If the shares being issued are of types and classes that are different from the existing shares, each shareholder may exercise preemptive rights (in proportion to the shares currently held) over all the types and classes of shares being issued.

Our bylaws provide that the preemptive rights may be excluded, or the deadline for exercise may be shortened, if we issue shares (or warrants or other securities convertible into new shares) through a public offering or a sale on a stock exchange, or by means of an exchange for shares in a public tender offer or acquisition of control.

In addition, the grant of options to purchase shares under stock option plans does not give rise to preemptive rights.

Voting Rights

Each of our common shares entitles the holder to cast one vote at our shareholders' meetings. Our preferred shares have no voting rights, except with regard to the following matters for as long as we are listed on the Level 2 segment of B3:

- (i) any direct conversion, consolidation, spin-off or merger of Azul;
- (ii) approval of any agreement between our company and our controlling shareholder(s) or parties related to the controlling shareholder, to the extent that Brazilian corporate law or our bylaws require that the agreement be submitted to the approval of a general shareholders' meeting;
- (iii) the valuation of any assets to be contributed to our Company in payment for shares issued in a capital increase;
- (iv) the appointment of an expert to ascertain the value our shares in connection with (A) a mandatory tender offer; (B) a delisting and deregistration transaction; or (C) any decision to cease to adhere to the requirements of the Level 2 segment of B3;
- (v) any change in, or the revocation of, provisions of our bylaws that results in the violation of certain requirements of the Level 2 segment of B3;
- (vi) the matters set forth in the Panel Code;
- (vii) any change in, or the revocation of, provisions of our bylaws that amends or modifies any of the requirements provided for in (A) Paragraphs Ten to Twelve of Article 5 (restricted voting rights attached to preferred shares); (B) Article 12 (extraordinary measures requiring shareholder approval); to (C) Article 14 (governance of special shareholders' meetings) of our bylaws;
- (viii) any change in, or the revocation of, provisions of our bylaws that amends or modifies any of the requirements provided for in (A) Paragraph Two of Article 15 (compensation of officers);
 (B) Article 29 (composition of our compensation committee),
 (C) Article 30 (functions of our compensation committee);
 (D) Article 31 (composition of our corporate governance committee);
 (and (E) Article 32 (functions of our corporate governance committee) of our bylaws;
- (ix) the compensation of our officers in accordance with Paragraph Two of Article 15 of our bylaws.

Items (i) through (vii) listed above are considered "special matters". Items (i) through (vii) require previous approval of a special preferred shareholders' meeting if our controlling shareholder holds shares representing a dividend percentage equal to or less than 50%, and item (vii) always requires previous approval of a special preferred shareholders' meeting.

In addition to the foregoing, the rights conferred on the preferred shareholders by the following articles of Brazilian corporate law may be exercised by our shareholders holding shares representing a percentage of dividend shares equal to the percentage of outstanding capital stock: (i) Article 4a—Introductory Paragraph (new valuation in the event of a public offer for the acquisition of shares for

the closing of capital), (ii) Article 105 (filing lawsuits for access to corporate books), (iii) Sole Paragraph, Paragraph (c) and Paragraph (d) of Article 123 (convening an ordinary shareholders' meeting), (iv) Section Three of Article 126 (requesting a shareholders' directory), (v) Section One of Article 157 (requesting information from management at the annual shareholders' meeting), (vi) Section Four of Article 159 (filing a lawsuit against directors), (vii) Section Two of Article 161 (establishing a fiscal council), (viii) Section Six of Article 163 (requesting the provision of information by the fiscal council), (ix) Paragraph II of Article 206 (proposing a dissolution action), and (x) Paragraph 1(a) of Article 246 (filing an action for liability and redress against a parent company).

Under Brazilian corporate law, shares with no voting rights or restricted voting rights (which would include our preferred shares) carry unrestricted voting rights in the event the company fails, for three consecutive years, to pay the privileged minimum or fixed dividends to which the shares are entitled, if any. Our preferred shares are not entitled to privileged minimum or fixed dividends and accordingly do not carry unrestricted voting rights if our Company fails to distribute the mandatory dividend (which is applicable to both common and preferred shares).

Brazilian corporate law also provides that any change in the rights of preferred shareholders, or any creation of a class of preferred shares with greater privileges than the existing preferred shares, must be approved by the holders of common shares at a shareholders' meeting. Any such approval only becomes legally effective once it has been ratified by the majority of shareholders holding preferred shares at a special shareholders' meeting.

Under Brazilian corporate law, minority holders of our preferred shares (with no voting rights or restricted voting rights) jointly representing at least 10% of our total capital stock have the right to elect one member of our board of directors in a separate voting process. Preferred shareholders have the right to elect two members of our board of directors in a separate voting process, pursuant to our bylaws. In addition, minority shareholders whose holding of our common shares represents at least 15% of our total voting capital stock have the right to elect one director in a separate voting process. Holders of preferred shares and common shares that represent 10% of the total share capital may combine their holdings in order to benefit from these rights.

In addition, Brazilian corporate law provides that the following rights of shareholders may not be altered either in the bylaws or by shareholders' resolutions:

- the right of holders of common shares to vote at general shareholders' meetings;
- the right to participate in the distribution of dividends (including interest paid on our capital), and to share in our remaining assets in case of liquidation;
- the right to subscribe for shares (or securities convertible into shares) in the circumstances summarized above; and
- the withdrawal rights summarized above.

Rights other than these unalterable rights may be granted or excluded in the bylaws or by shareholders' resolutions.

Shareholders' Meetings

Our board of directors has the power to call shareholders' meetings. Notice of shareholders' meetings must be published at least three times in the *Diário Oficial do Estado de São Paulo*, the official newspaper of the state of São Paulo, and in a second newspaper of general circulation (currently *Diário Comércio Indústria & Serviços*). Our shareholders' meetings are held at our headquarters, in the city of Barueri, state of São Paulo. Shareholders attending a shareholders' meeting must produce proof of their status as shareholders and proof that they hold the shares entitling them to vote.

Certain extraordinary matters must be approved by shareholders holding preferred shares through an extraordinary shareholders' meeting. In the first instance, our preferred shareholders representing at least 25% of our preferred shares may call an extraordinary shareholders' meeting. In the second instance, our preferred shareholders representing any number of our preferred shares may call an extraordinary shareholders' meeting, subject to the regulations of the Level 2 segment of B3. If a specific quorum is not required by Brazilian corporate law or the regulations of the Level 2 segment of B3, resolutions may pass by a majority vote of the preferred shareholders present.

For a summary of how a holder of ADSs may receive information regarding and attend shareholders' meetings, see the section of this prospectus entitled "Description of American Depositary Shares."

Anti-Takeover Provisions

Differently from companies incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware, the majority of Brazilian publicly-held companies do not employ "poison pill" provisions to prevent hostile takeovers. As most Brazilian companies have clearly identified controlling shareholders, hostile takeovers are rare and thus no developed body of case law addresses the limits on the ability of management to prevent or deter potential hostile bidders. Brazilian corporate law, Level 2 B3 rules and our by-laws require any party that acquires our control to extend a tender offer for common and preferred shares held by non-controlling shareholders at the same purchase price paid to the controlling shareholder. In addition, any shareholder whose equity interest reaches 30% of our outstanding common shares, or the Relevant Shareholding Level must effect a tender offer for all of our outstanding common shares, preferred shares and instruments convertible to our common shares or preferred shares, under the terms of the Self-Regulatory Code on Mergers and Acquisitions, or the Panel Code, issued by the Takeover Panel Sponsors Association—CAF, or CAF, which code we adhere to (see "-Brazilian Takeover Panel (CAF)"). The price to be offered for our common shares in the tender offer will be the highest price paid for our common shares by the offer or during the twelve months prior to the day when the holder reached the Relevant Shareholding Level, adjusted for certain relevant corporate events such as dividends payments and stock splits. The price to be offered for each of our preferred shares and instruments convertible to our common shares in the tender offer will be a price 75 times higher than the price offered for each of our common shares. For more information on CAF, see "-Brazilian Takeover Panel (CAF)".

Principal Differences between Brazilian and U.S. Corporate Governance Practices

We are subject to the NYSE corporate governance listing standards. As a foreign private issuer, the standards applicable to us are considerably different to the standards applicable to U.S. listed companies. Under the NYSE rules, we are required only

- to have an audit committee or audit board that meets certain requirements, pursuant to an exemption available to foreign private issuers, as discussed below;
- to provide prompt certification by our chief executive officer of any material non-compliance with any corporate governance rules; and
- to provide a brief description of the significant differences between our corporate governance practices and the NYSE corporate governance practice required to be followed by U.S. listed companies.

A summary of the significant differences between our corporate governance practices and those required of U.S. listed companies is included below.

Majority of Independent Directors

The NYSE rules require that a majority of the board must consist of independent directors. Independence is defined by various criteria, including the absence of a material relationship between the director and the listed company. Under the listing standards of Level 2 segment of B3, our board of directors must have at least five members, at least 20% of which must be independent. Also, Brazilian corporate law and the CVM have established rules that require directors to meet certain qualification requirements and that address the compensation and duties and responsibilities of, as well as the restrictions applicable to, a company's executive officers and directors. While our directors meet the qualification requirements of Brazilian corporate law and the CVM, we do not believe that a majority of our directors would be considered independent under the NYSE test for director independence. Brazilian corporate law requires that our directors be elected by our shareholders at a shareholders' meeting.

Executive Sessions

NYSE rules require that the non-management directors must meet at regularly scheduled executive sessions without management present. Brazilian corporate law does not have a similar provision. According to Brazilian corporate law, up to one-third of the members of the board of directors can be elected to officer positions. Our Chairman, David Neeleman, is a member of our board of directors. As a result, the non-management directors on our board do not typically meet in executive session.

Nominating committee, corporate governance committee and compensation committee

NYSE rules require that listed companies have a nominating/corporate governance committee and a compensation committee composed entirely of independent directors and governed by a written charter addressing the committee's required purpose and detailing its required responsibilities—although as a company the majority of whose voting shares are held by another group, we would not be required to comply with this rule. The responsibilities of the nominating/corporate governance committee include, among other things, identifying and selecting qualified board member nominees and developing a set of corporate governance principles applicable to the company. The responsibilities of the compensation committee, in turn, include, among other things, reviewing corporate goals relevant to the chief executive officer's compensation, evaluating the chief executive officer's performance, approving the chief executive officer's compensation levels and recommending to the board compensation of other executive officers, incentive compensation and equity-based plans.

We are not required under applicable Brazilian corporate law to have a nominating committee, corporate governance committee and compensation committee. Aggregate compensation for our directors and executive officers is established by our common and preferred shareholders at annual shareholders' meetings, and our directors at board of directors' meeting are required to determine the allocation of the aggregate compensation among their members and the officers.

Audit Committee and Audit Committee Additional Requirements

NYSE rules require that listed companies have an audit committee that:

- is composed of a minimum of three independent directors who are all financially literate;
- meets the SEC rules regarding audit committees for listed companies;
- · has at least one member who has accounting or financial management expertise; and
- is governed by a written charter addressing the committee's required purpose and detailing its required responsibilities.

The audit committee is elected by the board of directors.

All members of our audit committee either satisfy requirements of the SEC and NYSE applicable to U.S. audit committees or qualify with the Exchange Act Rule 10A-3 exemption.

Shareholder Approval of Equity Compensation Plans

NYSE rules require that shareholders be given the opportunity to vote on all equity compensation plans and material revisions to those plans (which may be approved for an undefined period), with limited exceptions. Under Brazilian corporate law, all stock option plans must be submitted for approval by the holders of our common shares. In addition, any issuance of new shares that exceeds our authorized share capital is subject to approval by holders of our common shares at a shareholders' meeting.

Corporate Governance Guidelines

NYSE rules require that listed companies adopt and disclose corporate governance guidelines. We comply with the corporate governance guidelines under applicable Brazilian law and the Level 2 segment of B3. We believe the corporate governance guidelines applicable to us under Brazilian law are consistent with the NYSE guidelines. We have adopted and observe the Policy of Material Fact Disclosure, which deals with the public disclosure of all relevant information as per CVM's Instruction No. 358 guidelines, and the Policy on Trading of Securities, which requires management to disclose all transactions relating to our securities, and which is required under Level 2 segment of B3.

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

NYSE rules require that listed companies adopt and disclose a code of business conduct and ethics for directors, officers and employees, and promptly disclose any waivers of the code for directors or executive officers. Level 2 segment of B3 has a similar requirement.

We adopted a code of business conduct and ethics in May 2009, which regulates the conduct of our managers in connection with the disclosure and control of financial and accounting information and their access to privileged and non-public information. Our code of business conduct and ethics complies with the requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the NYSE rules and Level 2 segment of B3 rules.

Internal Audit Function

NYSE rules require that listed companies maintain an internal audit function to provide management and the audit committee with ongoing assessments of the company's risk management processes and system of internal control.

Our internal auditing department works independently to conduct methodologically structured examinations, analysis, surveys and fact finding to evaluate the integrity, adequacy, effectiveness, efficiency and economy of the information systems processes and internal controls related to our risk management. The internal auditing department reports continually to our board of directors and audit committee and its activities are directly supervised by our audit committee, which acts under our board of directors, and is monitored by our audit and operational risk management superior committee. In carrying out its duties, the internal auditing department has access to all documents, records, systems, locations and people involved with the activities under review.

Brazilian Takeover Panel (CAF)

On January 21, 2014, we entered into an agreement to adhere to the Panel Code issued by CAF, a non-statutory non-for-profit entity organized under private law for the purpose of organizing, maintaining and administering the CAF. Our Company, shareholders, directors, fiscal council members

and members of any other entity with technical or consultative functions created by statutory provision will have to respect the principles and rules of the Panel Code and comply with the decisions that may be taken by CAF under the Panel Code in respect of all tender offers, takeovers, stock takeovers, mergers or spin-offs in connection with a takeover.

The rights of any shareholder who fails to comply with the Panel Code may be suspended pursuant to a decision of the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting, including the right of the non-compliant shareholder to vote.

DESCRIPTION OF AMERICAN DEPOSITARY SHARES

American Depositary Shares

Citibank, N.A., as depositary, will register and deliver the ADSs. Each ADS will, as of the date of this prospectus, represent the right to receive three preferred shares (which ratio may be changed, as described below) in registered form, deposited with the office of Banco Bradesco S.A. as custodian for the depositary. Each ADS will also represent the right to receive any other securities, cash or other property which may be received on behalf of the owner of the ADSs but not distributed by the depositary to the owners of ADSs because of legal restrictions or practical considerations. The principal executive office of the depositary is located at 388 Greenwich Street, New York, New York 10013.

The preferred shares are listed for trading on the Level 2 listing segment of the B3, and the ADSs are listed for trading on the New York Stock Exchange.

The Direct Registration System, or DRS, is a system administered by The Depository Trust Company, or DTC, pursuant to which the depositary may register the ownership of uncertificated ADSs, which ownership shall be evidenced by periodic statements issued by the depositary to the ADS holders entitled thereto.

We do not treat ADS holders as our shareholders and accordingly ADS holders will not have shareholder rights. Brazilian law governs shareholder rights. The depositary, the custodian and their respective nominees will be the holders of the preferred shares underlying the ADSs. Holders of ADSs, have ADS holder rights. A deposit agreement among us, the depositary, you, as an ADS holder, and the beneficial owners of ADSs sets out ADS holder and beneficial owner rights as well as the rights and obligations of the depositary. The laws of the State of New York govern the deposit agreement and the ADSs.

The following is a summary of the material provisions of the deposit agreement. For more complete information, you should read the entire deposit agreement and the form of American Depositary Receipt. For directions on how to obtain copies of those documents, see "Where You Can Find Additional Information."

Holding the ADSs

How will you hold your ADSs?

You may hold ADSs (a) by having an American Depositary Receipt, or ADR, which is a certificate evidencing a specific number of ADSs, registered in your name or through your broker or other financial institution, or (b) by holding ADSs in DRS. If you hold ADSs directly, you are an ADS holder. This description assumes you hold your ADSs directly, by means of an ADR registered in your name. If you hold the ADSs indirectly, you must rely on the procedures of your broker or other financial institution to assert the rights of ADS holders described in this section. You should consult with your broker or financial institution to find out what those procedures are.

Dividends and Other Distributions

How will you receive dividends and other distributions on the shares?

The depositary has agreed to pay to you the cash dividends or other distributions it or the custodian receives on preferred shares or other deposited securities, after deducting its fees and expenses and any taxes and government charges. You will receive these distributions in proportion to the number of preferred shares your ADSs represent as of the record date (which will be as close as practicable to the record date for our preferred shares) set by the depositary with respect to the ADSs.

• Cash. The depositary will convert or cause to be converted any cash dividend or other cash distribution we pay on the preferred shares or any net proceeds from the sale of any preferred shares, rights, securities or other entitlements under the terms of the deposit agreement into U.S. dollars, if it can do so on a practicable basis and can transfer such U.S. dollars to the United States and will distribute the amount thus received. If such conversions or transfers are not practical or lawful or if any government approval or license is needed and cannot be obtained, the deposit agreement allows the depositary to either distribute the foreign currency only to those ADS holders to whom it is possible to do so, or hold or cause the custodian to hold the foreign currency for the account of the ADS holders who have not been paid and such funds will be held for the respective accounts of the ADS holders. The depositary will not invest the foreign currency and will not be liable for any interest for the respective accounts of the ADS holders.

Before making a distribution, any taxes or other governmental charges, together with fees and expenses of the depositary, will be deducted. See "Taxation." If the exchange rates fluctuate during a time when the depositary cannot convert the foreign currency, you may lose some or all of the value of the distribution.

- Shares. For any preferred shares we distribute as a dividend or free distribution, either (1) the depositary will distribute additional ADSs representing the right to receive such preferred shares or (2) existing ADSs as of the applicable record date will represent rights and interests in the additional preferred shares distributed, to the extent reasonably practicable and permissible under law, in either case, net of applicable fees, charges and expenses incurred by the depositary and taxes and/or other governmental charges. The depositary will only distribute whole ADSs. It will try to sell preferred shares which would require it to deliver a fractional ADS and distribute the net proceeds in the same way as it does with cash. The depositary may sell a portion of the distributed preferred shares sufficient to pay its fees and expenses in connection with that distribution. There can be no assurance that you will be given the opportunity to receive distributions under the same terms and conditions as the holders of preferred shares.
- Elective Distributions in Cash or Shares. If we offer holders of our preferred shares the option to receive dividends in either cash or shares, the depositary, after consultation with us and having received timely notice from us as described in the deposit agreement of such elective distribution by us, and if we have indicated that we wish to make such elective distribution available to you, has discretion to determine to what extent such elective distribution is lawful and reasonably practicable, and thus, whether it can be made available to you as a holder of the ADSs. The depositary will not make such elective distribution to you until we first timely instruct the depositary to make such elective distribution available to you and furnish it with satisfactory evidence that it is lawful to do so. The depositary could decide it is not lawful or reasonably practicable to make such elective distribution available to you. In such case, the depositary shall, on the basis of the same determination as is made in respect of the preferred shares for which no election is made, distribute either cash in the same way as it does in a cash distribution, or additional ADSs representing the right to receive preferred shares in the same way as it does in a share distribution. The depositary will not be obligated to make available to you a method to receive the elective dividend in preferred shares rather than in ADSs. There can be no assurance that you will be given the opportunity to receive elective distributions on the same terms and conditions as the holders of preferred shares.
- Rights to Purchase Additional Shares. If we offer holders of our preferred shares any rights to subscribe for additional shares, the depositary shall, having received timely notice as described in the deposit agreement of such distribution by us, consult with us, and determine whether it is lawful and reasonably practicable to make these rights available to you. The depositary will not make rights available to you unless we first instruct the depositary to make such rights available

to you and furnish the depositary with satisfactory evidence that it is lawful and reasonably practicable to do so, and such other documentation as is provided in the deposit agreement. If it is not lawful and reasonably practicable to make the rights available but it is lawful and reasonably practicable to sell the rights, the depositary will attempt to sell the rights and distribute the net proceeds in the same way as it does with cash. The depositary will allow rights that are not distributed or sold to lapse. In that case, you will receive no value for them.

If the depositary makes rights available to you, it will establish procedures to distribute such rights and enable you to exercise the rights upon your payment of applicable fees, charges and expenses incurred by the depositary and taxes and/or other governmental charges. The depositary shall not be obliged to make available to you a method to exercise such rights to subscribe for preferred shares (rather than ADSs).

U.S. securities laws may restrict transfers and cancellation of the ADSs represented by shares purchased upon exercise of rights. For example, you may not be able to trade these ADSs freely in the United States. In this case, the depositary may deliver restricted depositary shares that have the same terms as the ADSs described in this section except for changes needed to put the necessary restrictions in place.

There can be no assurance that you will be given rights on the same terms and conditions as the holders of preferred shares or be able to exercise such rights.

• Other Distributions. Subject to receipt of timely notice and satisfactory documents by the depositary, as described in the deposit agreement, from us with our request to make any such distribution available to you, and provided the depositary has determined such distribution is lawful and reasonably practicable and in accordance with the terms of the deposit agreement, the depositary will distribute to you anything else we distribute on deposited securities by any means it may deem practicable, upon your payment of applicable fees, charges and expenses incurred by the depositary and taxes and/or other governmental charges. The depositary may attempt to sell all or a portion of the distributed property sufficient to pay its fees and expenses in connection with that distribution. If any of the conditions above are not met, the depositary will attempt to sell, or cause to be sold, what we distributed and distribute the net proceeds in the same way as it does with cash; or, if it is unable to sell such property, the depositary may dispose of such property in any way it deems reasonably practicable under the circumstances for nominal or no consideration, such that you may have no rights to or arising from such property.

The depositary is not responsible if it is unlawful or impracticable to make a distribution available to any ADS holders. We have no obligation to register ADSs, preferred shares, rights or other securities under the Securities Act. We also have no obligation to take any other action to permit the distribution of ADSs, preferred shares, rights or anything else to ADS holders. This means that you may not receive the distributions we make on our preferred shares or any value for them if we or the depositary determine that it is not lawful or not practicable for us or the depositary to make them available to you. The depositary will hold any cash amounts or property it is unable to distribute in a non-interest bearing account for the benefit of the applicable holders and beneficial owners of ADSs until a distribution can be effected or such amounts and property that the depositary holds must be escheated as unclaimed property in accordance with the laws of the relevant states of the United States.

Deposit, Withdrawal and Cancellation

Which shares shall be accepted for deposit?

No preferred shares shall be accepted for deposit unless accompanied by confirmation or such additional evidence, if any is required by the depositary, that is reasonably satisfactory to the depositary

and the custodian that all conditions to such deposit have been satisfied by the person depositing such preferred shares under the laws and regulations of Brazil and any necessary approval has been granted by the CVM, Banco Central do Brasil, or the Central Bank, or any governmental body in Brazil, if any, which is then performing the function of the regulator of currency exchange.

The depositary shall not be required to accept for deposit or maintain on deposit with the custodian (a) any fractional preferred shares or fractional deposited securities, or (b) any number of preferred shares or deposited securities which, upon application of the ratio of ADSs to deposited securities, would give rise to fractional ADSs.

How are ADSs issued?

The depositary will deliver ADSs if you or your broker deposits preferred shares or evidence of rights to receive preferred shares with the custodian. Upon payment of its fees and expenses and of any taxes or charges, such as stamp taxes or stock transfer taxes or fees, and upon presentation of the applicable deposit certification, the depositary will register the appropriate number of ADSs in the names you request and will deliver the ADSs to or upon the order of the person or persons entitled thereto. Your ability to deposit shares and receive ADSs may be limited by U.S. and Brazilian legal considerations applicable at the time of deposit.

How do ADS holders cancel an ADS?

You may present (or provide appropriate instructions to your broker to present) your ADSs to the depositary for cancellation and then receive the corresponding number of underlying preferred shares at the custodian's offices. Upon payment of its fees and expenses and of any taxes or charges, such as stamp taxes or stock transfer taxes or fees, the depositary will deliver the preferred shares and any other deposited securities underlying the ADSs to you or a person you designate. The depositary may ask you to provide documents as the depositary may deem appropriate before it will cancel your ADSs and deliver the underlying preferred shares and any other property.

How do ADS holders interchange between Certificated ADSs and Uncertificated ADSs?

You may surrender your ADR to the depositary for the purpose of exchanging your ADR for uncertificated ADSs. The depositary will cancel that ADR and will send you a statement confirming that you are the owner of uncertificated ADSs. Alternatively, upon receipt by the depositary of a proper instruction from a holder of uncertificated ADSs requesting the exchange of uncertificated ADSs for certificated ADSs and provided the continued availability of certified ADSs in the U.S., the depositary will execute and deliver to you an ADR evidencing those ADSs.

Voting Rights

How do you vote?

If certain conditions in the deposit agreement are satisfied as further described below, you may instruct the depositary to vote the preferred shares or other deposited securities underlying your ADSs at any meeting at which holders of preferred shares or other deposited securities are entitled to vote pursuant to any applicable law, the provisions of our bylaws and other constitutive documents, and the provisions of or governing the deposited securities. Otherwise, you could exercise your right to vote directly if you withdraw the preferred shares. However, you may not know about the meeting sufficiently enough in advance to withdraw the preferred shares. Our preferred shares have limited voting rights. See "Description of Capital Stock—Voting Rights."

Upon timely notice from us by regular, ordinary mail delivery, or by electronic transmission, as described in the deposit agreement, the depositary will notify you of the upcoming meeting at which

you are entitled to vote pursuant to any applicable law, the provisions of our bylaws and other constitutive documents, and the provisions of or governing the deposited securities, and arrange to deliver our voting materials to you. The materials will include or reproduce (a) such notice of meeting or solicitation of consents or proxies; (b) a statement that the ADS holders at the close of business on the ADS record date will be entitled, subject to any applicable law, the provisions of our bylaws and other constitutive documents, and the provisions of or governing the deposited securities (which provisions, if any, shall be summarized in pertinent part by us), to instruct the depositary as to the exercise of the voting rights, if any, pertaining to the preferred shares or other deposited securities represented by such holder's ADSs; and (c) a brief statement as to the manner in which such instructions may be given. Voting instructions may be given only in respect of a number of ADSs representing an integral number of preferred shares or other deposited securities. For instructions to be valid, the depositary must receive them in writing on or before the date specified by the depositary in its notice to ADS holders. The depositary will endeavor, insofar as practicable and permitted under applicable law, the provisions of the deposit agreement, our bylaws and the provisions of or governing the deposited securities, to vote or cause the custodian to vote the preferred shares or other deposited securities (in person or by proxy) as you instruct. The depositary will only vote or attempt to vote as you instruct provided that if the depositary timely receives voting instructions from you that fail to specify the manner in which deposited securities are to be voted, you will be deemed to have instructed the depositary to vote in favor of the items in the voting instructions. Preferred shares or other deposited securities represented by ADSs for which no specific voting instructions are received by the depositary from the ADS holder shall not be voted except as provided below. Without limiting any of the foregoing, to the extent the depositary does not receive voting instructions from ADS holders, the depositary will take such actions as are necessary, upon our written request and subject to applicable law and the terms of the deposited securities, to cause the amount of shares represented by ADSs of those ADS holders to be counted for the purpose of satisfying applicable quorum requirements.

If (i) we make a timely request to the depositary as contemplated above and (ii) no timely voting instructions are received by the depositary from you with respect to the deposited securities represented by your ADSs on or before the date established by the depositary for such purpose, the depositary shall deem you to have instructed the depositary to give a discretionary proxy to a person designated by our board of directors with respect to such deposited securities and the depositary shall endeavor, insofar as practicable and permitted under applicable law, the provisions of the deposit agreement, our bylaws and the provisions of the deposited securities, to give or cause the custodian to give a discretionary proxy to a person designated by our board of directors to vote such deposited securities; provided, however, that no such instruction shall be deemed given and no such discretionary proxy shall be given with respect to any matter as to which our board of directors informs the depositary that (x) the we do not wish such proxy given, (y) substantial opposition exists or (z) such matter materially and adversely affects the rights of holders of preferred shares.

We cannot assure you that you will receive the voting materials in time to ensure that you can instruct the depositary to vote the preferred shares underlying your ADSs. In addition, there can be no assurance that you will be given the opportunity to vote or cause the custodian to vote on the same terms and conditions as the holders of our preferred shares.

The depositary and its agents are not liable for failing to carry out voting instructions or for the manner of carrying out voting instructions. This means that you may not be able to exercise your right to vote and you may have no recourse if the preferred shares underlying your ADSs are not voted as you request.

Compliance with Regulations

Information Requests

Each ADS holder and beneficial owner shall (a) provide such information as we or the depositary may request pursuant to law, including, without limitation, relevant Brazilian law, any applicable law of the United States of America, the rules and requirements of B3, our bylaws and other constitutive documents, any resolutions of our board of directors adopted pursuant to such bylaws, the requirements of any markets or exchanges upon which the preferred shares, ADSs or ADRs are listed or traded, or to any requirements of any electronic book-entry system by which the ADSs or ADRs may be transferred, regarding the capacity in which they own or owned ADSs, the identity of any other persons then or previously interested in such ADSs and the nature of such interest, and any other applicable matters, and (b) be bound by and subject to applicable provisions of the laws of Brazil, our bylaws and other constitutive documents, and the requirements of any markets or exchanges upon which the ADSs or preferred shares are listed or traded, or pursuant to any requirements of any electronic book-entry system by which the ADSs or preferred shares may be transferred, to the same extent as if such ADS holder or beneficial owner held preferred shares directly, in each case irrespective of whether or not they are ADS holders or beneficial owners at the time such request is made.

Disclosure of Interests

Each ADS holder and beneficial owner shall comply with our requests pursuant to Brazilian law, the rules and requirements of the CVM and B3, and any other stock exchange on which the preferred shares are, or will be, registered, traded or listed or our bylaws and other constitutive documents, which requests are made to provide information, inter alia, as to the capacity in which such ADS holder or beneficial owner owns ADS and regarding the identity of any other person interested in such ADS and the nature of such interest and various other matters, whether or not they are ADS holders or beneficial owners at the time of such requests.

Delivery of Information to the CVM, the Central Bank and B3

We will comply with Brazil's Monetary Council Resolution No. 4,373, dated as of September 29, 2013, and will furnish to the CVM, the Central Bank and the B3, whenever required, information or documents related to the approved ADR program, the deposited securities and distributions thereon. The depositary and the custodian may release such information or documents and any other information as required by local regulation, law or regulatory body request.

Ownership Restrictions

We may restrict transfers of the preferred shares where such transfer might result in ownership of preferred shares exceeding limits imposed by applicable laws or our bylaws. We may also restrict, in such manner as we deem appropriate, transfers of the ADSs where such transfer may result in the total number of preferred shares represented by the ADSs owned by a single ADS holder or beneficial owner of ADSs to exceed any such limits. We may, in our sole discretion but subject to applicable law, instruct the depositary to take action with respect to the ownership interest of any ADS holder or beneficial owner of ADSs in excess of the limits set forth in the preceding sentence, including, but not limited to, the imposition of restrictions on the transfer of ADSs, the removal or limitation of voting rights or mandatory sale or disposition on behalf of an ADS holder or beneficial owner of ADSs of the preferred shares represented by the ADSs of such holder or beneficial owner in excess of such limitations, if and to the extent such disposition is permitted by applicable law and our bylaws. Notwithstanding the foregoing, neither we nor the depositary shall be obligated to ensure compliance with the foregoing ownership restrictions.

Reporting Obligations and Regulatory Approvals

Applicable laws and regulations, including those of the Central Bank, the CVM, the B3 and the Level 2 listing segment may require ADS holders and beneficial owners of preferred shares, including the ADS holders and beneficial owners of ADSs, to satisfy reporting requirements and obtain regulatory approvals in certain circumstances. ADS holders and beneficial owners of ADSs are solely responsible for complying with such reporting requirements and obtaining such approvals, and pursuant to the deposit agreement, such holders and beneficial owners agree to make such determinations, file such reports, and obtain such approvals to the extent and in the form required by applicable laws and regulations as in effect from time to time and neither the depositary, the custodian nor we, nor any of their or our respective agents or affiliates shall be required to take any actions on behalf of such holders or beneficial owners to determine or satisfy such reporting requirements or obtain such regulatory approvals under applicable laws and regulations.

Fees and Expenses

As an ADS holder, you will be required to pay the following service fees to the depositary and certain taxes and governmental charges (in addition to any applicable fees, expenses, taxes and other governmental charges payable on the deposited securities represented by any of your ADSs):

Fees
Up to US\$0.05 per ADS issued
Lin to LICCO OF non ADC concelled
Up to U\$\$0.05 per ADS cancelled
Up to US\$0.05 per ADS held
Up to US\$0.05 per ADS held
Up to US\$0.05 per ADS held
Up to US\$0.05 per ADS held

As an ADS holder, you will also be responsible to pay certain fees and expenses incurred by the depositary and certain taxes and governmental charges (in addition to any applicable fees, expenses, taxes and other governmental charges payable on the deposited securities represented by any of your ADSs) such as:

- fees for the transfer and registration of preferred shares charged by the registrar and transfer agent for the preferred shares in Brazil (i.e., upon deposit and withdrawal of preferred shares);
- expenses incurred for converting foreign currency into U.S. dollars;
- expenses for cable, telex, electronic and fax transmissions and for delivery of securities;
- taxes and duties upon the transfer of securities, including any applicable stamp duties, any stock transfer charges or withholding taxes (i.e., when preferred shares are deposited or withdrawn from deposit);
- fees and expenses incurred in connection with the delivery or servicing of preferred shares on deposit;
- fees and expenses incurred in connection with complying with exchange control regulations and other regulatory requirements applicable to preferred shares, deposited securities, ADSs and ADRs; and
- any applicable fees and penalties thereon.

The depositary fees payable upon the issuance and cancellation of ADSs are typically paid to the depositary by the brokers (on behalf of their clients) receiving the newly issued ADSs from the depositary and by the brokers (on behalf of their clients) delivering the ADSs to the depositary for cancellation. The brokers in turn charge these fees to their clients. Depositary fees payable in connection with distributions of cash or securities to ADS holders and the depositary services fee are charged by the depositary to the holders of record of ADSs as of the applicable ADS record date.

The depositary fees payable for cash distributions are generally deducted from the cash being distributed or by selling a portion of distributable property to pay the fees. In the case of distributions other than cash (i.e., share dividends, rights), the depositary charges the applicable fee to the ADS record date holders concurrent with the distribution. In the case of ADSs registered in the name of the investor (whether certificated or uncertificated in direct registration), the depositary sends invoices to the applicable record date ADS holders. In the case of ADSs held in brokerage and custodian accounts (via DTC), the depositary generally collects its fees through the systems provided by DTC (whose nominee is the registered holder of the ADSs held in DTC) from the brokers and custodians holding ADSs in their DTC accounts. The brokers and custodians who hold their clients' ADSs in DTC accounts in turn charge their clients' accounts the amount of the fees paid to the depositary.

Until the applicable depositary fees and expenses are paid, the depositary may, under the terms of the deposit agreement, refuse the requested service until payment is received or may set off the amount of the depositary fees from any distribution to be made to the ADS holder. The depositary may sell preferred shares or other depositary property held with respect to your ADSs and use the proceeds to satisfy your obligations to pay its fees and expenses.

Certain of the depositary fees and charges (such as the depositary services fee) may become payable shortly after the closing of the ADS offering. Note that the fees and charges you may be required to pay may vary over time and may be changed by us and by the depositary. You will receive prior notice of such changes. The depositary may reimburse us for certain expenses incurred by us in respect of the ADR program, by making available a portion of the ADS fees charged in respect of the ADR program or otherwise, upon such terms and conditions as we and the depositary agree from time to time.

Payment of Taxes

You will be responsible for any taxes or other governmental charges payable, or which become payable, on your ADSs or on the deposited securities represented by any of your ADSs. The depositary may refuse to register or transfer your ADSs or allow you to withdraw the deposited securities represented by your ADSs until such taxes or other charges are paid. It may apply payments owed to you or sell deposited securities represented by your ADSs to pay any taxes owed and you will remain liable for any deficiency. If the depositary sells deposited securities, it will, if appropriate, reduce the number of ADSs to reflect the sale and pay to you any net proceeds, or send to you any property, remaining after it has paid the taxes. You agree to indemnify us, the depositary, the custodian and each of our and their respective agents, directors, employees and affiliates for, and hold each of them harmless from, any claims with respect to taxes (including applicable interest and penalties thereon) arising from any tax benefit obtained for you. Your obligations under this paragraph shall survive any transfer of ADSs, any surrender of ADSs and withdrawal of deposited securities or the termination of the deposit agreement.

The depositary may refuse to issue ADSs, to deliver, transfer, split and combine ADSs or to release securities on deposit until all taxes and charges are paid by you. The depositary and the custodian may take reasonable administrative actions to obtain tax refunds and reduced tax withholding for any distributions on your behalf. However, you may be required to provide to the depositary and to

the custodian proof of taxpayer status and residence and such other information as the depositary and the custodian may require to fulfill legal obligations.

Each ADS holder will be responsible for the payment and/or reimbursement of any and all taxes effectively paid or incurred by us, the Depositary or the Custodian (including as a result of the execution of any symbolic foreign exchange transaction (*operação simbólica de câmbio*)) related to or as a result of a deposit of preferred shares and/or withdrawal or sale of deposited property by such ADS holder. Each ADS holder will be responsible for the reporting of any false or misleading information, or the failure to report required information relating to foreign exchange transactions to the custodian or the Central Bank, as the case may be, in connection with deposits or withdrawals of deposited securities.

If we change the nominal or par value of, split-up, cancel, consolidate or otherwise reclassify any of the deposited securities, or if we recapitalize, reorganize, merge, consolidate or sell our assets, any property which shall be received by the depositary or the custodian in exchange for, or in conversion of, or replacement of, or otherwise in respect of, the deposited securities shall, to the extent permitted by law, be treated as new deposited property under the deposit agreement, and the ADSs shall, subject to the provisions of the deposit agreement, any ADR(s) evidencing such ADSs and applicable law, represent the right to receive such additional or replacement deposited property. In connection with the foregoing, we may (i) issue and deliver additional ADSs as in the case of a stock dividend on the preferred shares, (ii) amend the deposit agreement and the applicable ADR(s), (iii) amend the applicable registration statement(s) in respect of the ADSs, (iv) call for the surrender of outstanding ADRs to be exchanged for new ADRs, and (v) take such other actions as are appropriate to reflect the transaction with respect to the ADSs.

Amendment and Termination

How may the deposit agreement be amended?

We may agree with the depositary to amend the deposit agreement and the form of ADR without your consent for any reason. If an amendment adds or increases fees or charges, except for taxes and other governmental charges or expenses of the depositary for registration fees, facsimile costs, delivery charges or similar items, including expenses incurred in connection with foreign exchange control regulations and other charges specifically payable by ADS holders under the deposit agreement, or materially prejudices a substantial existing right of ADS holders, it will not become effective for outstanding ADSs until 30 days after the depositary notifies ADS holders of the amendment. The depositary will not consider to be materially prejudicial to your substantial rights any modification or supplement that are reasonably necessary for the ADSs to be registered under U.S. laws, in each case without imposing or increasing the fees and charges you are required to pay. In addition, the depositary may not be able to provide you with prior notice of any modifications or supplements that are required to accommodate compliance with applicable provisions of law. At the time an amendment becomes effective, you are considered, by continuing to hold your ADSs, to agree to the amendment and to be bound by the ADRs and the deposit agreement as amended.

How may the deposit agreement be terminated?

We have the right to direct the depositary to terminate the deposit agreement. Similarly, the depositary may in certain circumstances on its own initiative terminate the deposit agreement. In such cases, the depositary must notify you at least 30 days before termination.

After termination, the depositary and its agents will do the following under the deposit agreement but nothing else: collect distributions on the deposited securities, sell rights and other property and deliver preferred shares and other deposited securities upon cancellation of ADSs after payment of any fees, charges, taxes or other governmental charges. At any time after the date of termination, the depositary may sell any remaining deposited securities by public or private sale. After that, the depositary will hold the money it received on the sale, as well as any other cash it is holding under the deposit agreement, for the pro rata benefit of the ADS holders that have not surrendered their ADSs. It will not invest the money and has no liability for interest. After such sale, the depositary's only obligations will be to account for the money and other cash. After termination, we shall be discharged from all obligations under the deposit agreement except for our obligations to the depositary and the custodian thereunder. The obligations of ADS holders and beneficial owners of ADSs outstanding as of the effective date of any termination shall survive such effective date of termination and shall be discharged only when the applicable ADSs are presented to the depositary for cancellation under the terms of the deposit agreement and the ADS holders have satisfied any and all of their obligations thereunder (including, but not limited to, any payment and/or reimbursement obligations which relate to prior to the effective date of termination but which payment and/or reimbursement is claimed after such effective date of termination).

Books of Depositary

The depositary will maintain ADS holder records at its depositary office. You may inspect such records at such office at all reasonable times but solely for the purpose of communicating with other holders in the interest of business matters relating to the Company, the ADRs and the deposit agreement.

The depositary will maintain in New York facilities to record and process the issuance, cancellation, combination, split-up and transfer of ADRs.

These facilities may be closed at any time or from time to time, when such action is deemed necessary or advisable by the depositary in connection with the performance of its duties under the deposit agreement or at our reasonable request, to the extent not prohibited by law.

Limitations on Obligations and Liability

Limits on our Obligations and the Obligations of the Depositary and the Custodian; Limits on Liability to Holders of ADSs

The deposit agreement expressly limits our obligations and the obligations of the depositary and the custodian. It also limits our liability and the liability of the depositary and the custodian. We, the depositary and the custodian:

- are only obligated to take the actions specifically set forth in the deposit agreement without negligence or bad faith;
- are not liable if any of us or our respective controlling persons or agents are prevented or forbidden from, or subjected to any civil or criminal penalty or restraint on account of, or delayed in, doing or performing any act or thing required by the terms of the deposit agreement and any ADR, by reason of any provision of any present or future law or regulation of the United States or any state thereof, Brazil or any other country, or of any other governmental authority or regulatory authority or stock exchange, or on account of the possible criminal or civil penalties or restraint, or by reason of any provision, present or future, of our bylaws or other constituent documents or any provision of or governing any deposited securities, or by reason of any act of God or war or other circumstances beyond its control (including, without

limitation, nationalization, expropriation, currency restrictions, work stoppage, strikes, civil unrest, revolutions, rebellions, explosions and computer failure);

- are not obligated to perform any act that is inconsistent with the terms of the deposit agreement;
- are not liable by reason of any exercise of, or failure to exercise, any discretion provided for in the deposit agreement or in our bylaws or other constituent documents or provisions of or governing deposited securities;
- disclaim any liability for any action or inaction of any of us or our respective controlling persons
 or agents in reliance upon the advice of or information from legal counsel, accountants, any
 person presenting preferred shares for deposit, any holder of ADSs or authorized representatives
 thereof, or any other person believed by any of us in good faith to be competent to give such
 advice or information;
- are not liable for any indirect, special, consequential or punitive damages for any breach of the terms of the deposit agreement;
- disclaim any liability for inability of any holder to benefit from any distribution, offering, right or
 other benefit made available to holders of deposited securities but not made available to holders
 of ADSs;
- may rely upon any documents we believe in good faith to be genuine and to have been signed or presented by the proper party;
- are not obligated to appear in, prosecute or defend any action with respect to deposited property or the ADSs, except under the circumstances set forth in the deposit agreement; and
- are not liable for any action or failure to act by any ADS holder relating to the ADS holder's obligations under any applicable Brazilian law or regulation relating to foreign investment in Brazil in respect of a withdrawal or sale of deposited securities, including, without limitation, any failure to comply with a requirement to register such investment pursuant to the terms of any applicable Brazilian law or regulation prior to such withdrawal or any failure to report foreign exchange transactions to the Central Bank, as the case may be.

The depositary and any of its agents also disclaim any liability (i) with respect to Brazil's system of share registration and custody, including any liability in respect of the unavailability of deposited securities (or any distribution in respect thereof), (ii) for any failure to carry out any instructions to vote, the manner in which any vote is cast or the effect of any vote or failure to determine that any distribution or action may be lawful or reasonably practicable or for allowing any rights to lapse in accordance with the provisions of the deposit agreement, (iii) the failure or timeliness of any notice from us, the content of any information submitted to it by us for distribution to you or for any inaccuracy of any translation thereof, (iv) any investment risk associated with the acquisition of an interest in the deposited securities, the validity or worth of the deposited securities, the credit-worthiness of any third party, (v) for any tax consequences that may result from ownership of ADSs, preferred shares or deposited securities, or (vi) for any acts or omissions made by a successor depositary.

In the deposit agreement, we and the depositary agree to indemnify each other under certain circumstances.

Requirements for Depositary Actions

Before the depositary will issue, deliver or register a transfer of an ADS, make a distribution on an ADS, or permit withdrawal of preferred shares, the depositary may require:

- payment of stock transfer or other taxes or other governmental charges and transfer or registration fees charged by third parties for the transfer of any preferred shares or other deposited securities and payment of the applicable fees, expenses and charges of the depositary;
- satisfactory proof of the identity and genuineness of any signature or other information it deems necessary; and
- compliance with (A) any laws or governmental regulations relating to the execution and delivery of ADRs or ADSs or to the withdrawal or delivery of deposited securities and (B) regulations it may establish, from time to time, consistent with the deposit agreement and applicable laws, including presentation of transfer documents.

The depositary may refuse to issue and deliver ADSs or register transfers of ADSs generally when the register of the depositary or our transfer books are closed or at any time if the depositary or we determine that it is necessary or advisable to do so.

Your Right to Receive the Shares Underlying Your ADSs

You have the right to cancel your ADSs and withdraw the underlying preferred shares at any time except:

- when temporary delays arise because: (1) the depositary has closed its transfer books or we have closed our transfer books; (2) the transfer of preferred shares is blocked to permit voting at a shareholders' meeting; or (3) we are paying a dividend on our preferred shares;
- when you owe money to pay fees, taxes and similar charges;
- when it is necessary to prohibit withdrawals in order to comply with any laws or governmental regulations that apply to ADSs or to the withdrawal of preferred shares or other deposited securities; or
- other circumstances specifically contemplated by Section I.A.(l) of the General Instructions to Form F-6 (as such General Instructions may be amended from time to time).

This right of withdrawal may not be limited by any other provision of the deposit agreement.

The depositary shall not knowingly accept for deposit under the deposit agreement any preferred shares or other deposited securities required to be registered under the provisions of the Securities Act, unless a registration statement is in effect as to such preferred shares.

Pre-release of ADSs

The deposit agreement permits the depositary to deliver ADSs before deposit of the underlying preferred shares. This is called a pre-release of the ADSs. The depositary may also deliver preferred shares upon cancellation of pre-released ADSs (even if the ADSs are cancelled before the pre-release transaction has been closed out). A pre-release is closed out as soon as the underlying preferred shares are delivered to the depositary. The depositary may receive ADSs instead of preferred shares to close out a pre-release. The depositary may pre-release ADSs only under the following conditions: (1) before or at the time of the pre-release, the person or entity to whom the pre-release is being made (a) represents to the depositary in writing that at the time of the pre-release transaction it or its customer owns the preferred shares or ADSs that are to be delivered by it under such pre-release transaction, (b) agrees to indicate the depositary as owner of such preferred shares or ADSs in its

records and to hold such preferred shares or ADSs in trust for the depositary until such preferred shares or ADSs are delivered to the depositary or the custodian, (c) unconditionally guarantees to deliver such preferred shares or ADSs to the depositary or the custodian, as the case may be, and (d) agrees to any additional restrictions or requirements that the depositary deems appropriate; (2) at all times the pre-release is fully collateralized with cash, United States government securities or other collateral that the depositary considers appropriate; and (3) the depositary must be able to close out the pre-release on not more than five business days' notice. Each pre-release is subject to further indemnities and credit regulations as the depositary considers appropriate. In addition, the depositary will normally limit the number of ADSs that may be outstanding at any time as a result of pre-release to 30% of the aggregate number of ADSs then outstanding, although the depositary may disregard the limit from time to time, if it thinks it is appropriate to do so.

Direct Registration System

In the deposit agreement, all parties to the deposit agreement acknowledge that the DRS and Profile Modification System, or Profile, will apply to uncertificated ADSs upon acceptance thereof to DRS by DTC. DRS is the system administered by DTC pursuant to which the depositary may register the ownership of uncertificated ADSs, which ownership shall be evidenced by periodic statements issued by the depositary to the ADS holders entitled thereto. Profile is a required feature of DRS which allows a DTC participant, claiming to act on behalf of an ADS holder, to direct the depositary to register a transfer of those ADSs to DTC or its nominee and to deliver those ADSs to the DTC account of that DTC participant without receipt by the depositary of prior authorization from the ADS holder to register such transfer.

ENFORCEMENT OF CIVIL LIABILITIES

We are incorporated under the laws of Brazil. Substantially all of our directors and officers and certain of the experts named herein are non-U.S. residents, and all or a significant portion of the assets of those persons may be, and the most significant portion of our assets are, located outside the United States. As a result, it may not be possible for investors to effect service of process within the United States upon those persons or to enforce against them or against us in U.S. courts judgments predicated upon civil liability provisions of the U.S. federal or state securities laws.

One of our subsidiaries, Canela Investments LLC, is a limited liability company incorporated under Delaware law. Canela Investments LLC is the parent company of nine aircraft operating companies, each of which is also incorporated in Delaware, that finance and operate a total of 13 of our aircraft. Judgments against us could be enforced against these U.S. assets.

A judgment obtained outside Brazil against us, the Selling Shareholders, our directors and officers, or the experts named in this prospectus, would be enforceable in Brazil, without reconsideration of the merits, upon confirmation of that judgment by the Brazilian Superior Court of Justice. That confirmation will occur if the foreign judgment (i) complies with all formalities required for enforcement under the laws of the jurisdiction where it was rendered; (ii) is issued by a court of competent jurisdiction after proper service of process on the parties and such service either complies with Brazilian law, if made in Brazil, or, after sufficient evidence of the parties' absence from Brazil, as required by applicable law; (iii) is final and thus, not subject to appeal; (iv) is apostilled by the appropriate authority of the state rendering such foreign judgment in accordance with the Hague Convention of October 5, 1961 Abolishing the Requirement of Legalization for Foreign Public Documents, or the Apostille Convention, or, if the rendering state is not a signatory to the Apostille Convention, is duly authenticated by the appropriate Brazilian consulate; (v) does not violate a final and unappealable decision issued by a Brazilian court; (vi) is translated into Portuguese by a certified translator in Brazil, unless an exemption is provided by an international treaty to which Brazil is a signatory; and (vii) is not contrary to Brazilian national sovereignty, public policy or public morality, and (viii) grants an injunction on an urgent matter (if applicable).

In addition, a plaintiff, whether Brazilian or non-Brazilian, that resides outside Brazil during the course of litigation in Brazil must provide a bond to guarantee court costs and legal fees if the plaintiff owns no real property in Brazil that could secure payment, except in the case of (i) exemptions provided by an international agreement or treaty to which Brazil is a signatory; (ii) an action for enforcement of an extrajudicial instrument (*título executivo extrajudicial*), which may be enforced in Brazilian courts without review on the merits; (iii) enforcement of a judgment, including foreign judgments that have been duly recognized by the Brazilian Superior Court of Justice; (iv) counterclaims; and (v) in the event of an international agreement ratified by Brazil that does not require the obligation to post a bond, as established under Article 83 of the Brazilian Code of Civil Procedure.. This bond must be sufficient to satisfy the payment of court fees and defendant attorney's fees, as determined by the Brazilian judge, except in the cases indicated above. Notwithstanding the foregoing, we cannot assure you that confirmation of any judgment will be obtained, or that the process described above can be conducted in a timely manner.

Furthermore, to become a Level 2 segment of B3 company, we have adhered exclusively to the Market Arbitration Chamber of the B3 for resolution of disputes between us and our investors relating to or derived from the enforceability, validity, applicability, interpretation, breach and its effects, of the provisions of the Brazilian corporate law, the Company's bylaws, the rules published by the CMN, the Central Bank, the CVM, and other rules applicable to the Brazilian capital markets in general, including the Level 2 rules, the Level 2 listing agreement, the Level 2 sanctions regulation and the rules of the Market Arbitration Chamber of the B3. Therefore, any disputes among our shareholders and holders of ADSs, and disputes between us and our shareholders and holders of ADSs, will be

submitted to the Market Arbitration Chamber of the B3. As a result, a court in the United States could require that a claim brought by a holder of ADSs predicated upon the U.S. securities laws be submitted to arbitration in accordance with our bylaws. In that event, a purchaser of ADSs would be effectively precluded from pursuing remedies under the U.S. securities laws in the U.S. courts. However, a court in the United States could allow claims predicated upon the U.S. securities laws brought by holders who purchased ADSs on the NYSE to be submitted to U.S. courts.

We have appointed Cogency Global Inc. as our agent upon whom process may be served in any action brought against us under the securities laws of the United States.

TAXATION

Material income tax consequences relating to the purchase, ownership and disposition of any of the securities offered by this prospectus will be set forth in the applicable prospectus supplement relating to the offering of those securities.

SELLING SHAREHOLDERS

Selling shareholders to be named in an applicable prospectus supplement may, from time to time, offer and sell some or all of the equity securities held by them pursuant to this prospectus and the applicable prospectus supplement. Such selling shareholders may sell equity securities held by them to or through underwriters, dealers or agents or directly to purchasers or as otherwise set forth in the applicable prospectus supplement. See "Plan of Distribution." Such selling shareholders may also sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of some or all of the equity securities held by them in transactions exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act.

We will provide you with a prospectus supplement, which will set forth the name of each selling shareholder, the number of equity securities beneficially owned by such selling shareholder and the number of equity securities they are offering. The applicable prospectus supplement also will disclose whether any of the selling shareholders have held any position or office with, have been employed by or otherwise have had a material relationship with us during the three years prior to the date of the applicable prospectus supplement.

PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

At the time of offering any securities, we will supplement the following summary of the plan of distribution with a description of the offering, including the particular terms and conditions thereof, set forth in an applicable prospectus supplement relating to those securities.

Each prospectus supplement with respect to a series of securities will set forth the terms of the offering of those securities, including the name or names of any underwriters or agents, the price of such securities and the net proceeds to us from such sale, any underwriting discounts, commissions or other items constituting underwriters' or agents' compensation, any discount or concessions allowed or reallowed or paid to dealers and any securities exchanges on which those securities may be listed.

We and any selling shareholder may sell the securities:

- through agents;
- to or through underwriters or dealers;
- · directly to purchasers; or
- through a combination of any of these methods of sale.

Any underwriters or agents will be identified and their discounts, commissions and other items constituting underwriters' compensation and any securities exchanges on which the securities are listed will be described in the applicable prospectus supplement.

In accordance with Rule 5110 of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, Inc., in no situation will underwriting compensation exceed 8% of the gross proceeds of any offering pursuant to the registration statement of which this prospectus forms part.

We and any selling shareholder (directly or through agents) may sell, and, if applicable, the underwriters may resell, the securities in one or more transactions, including negotiated transactions, at a fixed public offering price or prices, which may be changed, or at market prices prevailing at the time of sale, at prices related to prevailing market prices or at negotiated prices.

In connection with the sale of the securities, the underwriters or agents may receive compensation from us or from purchasers of the securities for whom they may act as agents. The underwriters may sell the securities to or through dealers, who may also receive compensation from purchasers of the securities for whom they may act as agents. Compensation may be in the form of discounts, concessions or commissions. Underwriters, dealers and agents that participate in the distribution of the securities may be underwriters as defined in the Securities Act, and any discounts or commissions received by them from us and any profit on the resale of the securities by them may be treated as underwriting discounts and commissions under the Securities Act.

Underwriters, dealers and agents may engage in transactions with, or perform services for, us or our affiliates in the ordinary course of their businesses.

Underwriters, dealers, agents and other persons may be entitled, under agreements that they may enter into with us, to indemnification by us against certain liabilities, including liabilities under the Securities Act.

If so indicated in the prospectus supplement relating to an issue of the securities, we will authorize underwriters, dealers or agents to solicit offers by certain institutions to purchase the securities from us under delayed delivery contracts providing for payment and delivery at a future date. These contracts will be subject only to those conditions set forth in the applicable prospectus supplement, and the applicable prospectus supplement will set forth the commission payable for solicitation of these contracts.

LEGAL MATTERS

Unless otherwise indicated in the applicable prospectus supplement, the validity of the debt securities and certain matters of U.S. law will be passed upon for us by Shearman & Sterling LLP, New York, New York and the validity of the preferred shares and other matters governed by Brazilian law will be passed upon for us by Pinheiro Neto Advogados, São Paulo, Brazil. Any underwriters will also be advised about certain legal matters by their own counsel, which will be named in any applicable prospectus supplement.

EXPERTS

The consolidated financial statements of Azul S.A. appearing in Azul S.A.'s Annual Report (Form 20-F) for the year ended December 31, 2017, have been audited by Ernst & Young Auditores Independentes S.S., independent registered public accounting firm, as set forth in their report thereon, included therein, and incorporated herein by reference. Such consolidated financial statements are incorporated herein by reference in reliance upon such report given on the authority of such firm as experts in accounting and auditing.

PART II

INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN PROSPECTUS

Item 8. Indemnification of Directors and Officers.

Under Brazilian Law, any provision, whether contained in the bylaws of a company or in any agreement, exempting any officer or director against any liability which by law or otherwise would attach to them in respect of negligence, misfeasance, breach of duty or trust, is void. A company may, however, indemnify an officer or director against any liability incurred by them in defending any proceedings, whether criminal or civil, in which a judgment is given in their favor. We have entered into indemnity agreements with two of our independent directors pursuant to which we agree to indemnify and hold each of them harmless for certain losses arising out of their respective positions as directors excluding any willful misconduct, fraud or severe negligence.

Item 9. Exhibits.

Exhibit	Description
1.1**	Form of Equity Securities Underwriting Agreement
1.2**	Form of Debt Securities Underwriting Agreement
4.1	Deposit Agreement among the Registrant, Citibank N.A., as depositary, and all Holders and Beneficial Owners of American Depositary Shares issued thereunder, including the form of American Depositary Receipt.
4.2*	Shareholders' Agreement, dated September 1, 2017, among TRIP Participações S.A., TRIP Investimentos Ltda., Rio Novo Locações Ltda., Calfinco Inc., Hainan Airlines Holding Co., Ltd. and David Gary Neeleman and as intervening and consenting party, Azul S.A. (previously filed on Form 6-K (File No. 001-38049) as filed with the SEC on September 5, 2017 and incorporated by reference herein).
4.3*	Fifth Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of August 3, 2016, among Azul S.A. and the signatories thereunder. (previously filed as Exhibit 4.3 of our registration statement on Form F-1 (File No. 333-215908) as filed with the SEC on February 6, 2017 and incorporated by reference herein).
4.4	Form of Indenture.
4.5**	Form of Debt Securities.
5.1	Opinion of Pinheiro Neto Advogados, Brazilian legal counsel of the Registrant, as to the legality of the preferred shares.
5.2	Opinion of Shearman & Sterling LLP, US legal counsel of the Registrant, as to the legality of the debt securities.
23.1	Consent of Ernst & Young Auditores Independentes S. S.
23.2	Consent of Pinheiro Neto Advogados, Brazilian legal counsel of the Registrant (included in Exhibit 5.1).
23.3	Consent of Shearman & Sterling LLP, US legal counsel of the Registrant (included in Exhibit 5.2).
24.1	Powers of Attorney (included on signature page to the Registration Statement).
25.1***	Form T-1 Statement of Eligibility and Qualification under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939.

^{*} Previously filed.

- ** To be filed as an exhibit to a post-effective amendment to this registration statement or as an exhibit to a report filed or furnished under the Exchange Act and incorporated by reference.
- *** Where applicable, to be filed subsequently in accordance with Section 305(b)(2) of the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended.

Item 10. Undertakings.

- (a) The undersigned Registrant hereby undertakes:
- (1) To file, during any period in which offers or sales are being made, a post-effective amendment to this Registration Statement:
 - (i) to include any prospectus required by Section 10(a)(3) of the Securities Act of 1933;
 - (ii) to reflect in the prospectus any facts or events arising after the effective date of the Registration Statement (or the most recent post-effective amendment thereof) which, individually or in the aggregate, represent a fundamental change in the information set forth in the Registration Statement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any increase or decrease in volume of securities offered (if the total dollar value of securities offered would not exceed that which was registered) and any deviation from the low or high end of the estimated maximum offering range may be reflected in the form of prospectus filed with the Commission pursuant to Rule 424(b) under the Securities Act of 1933 if, in the aggregate, the changes in volume and price represent no more than a 20% change in the maximum aggregate offering price set forth in the "Calculation of Registration Fee" table in the effective Registration Statement; and
 - (iii) to include any material information with respect to the plan of distribution not previously disclosed in the Registration Statement or any material change to such information in the Registration Statement,

provided, however, that clauses (i), (ii) and (iii) do not apply if the information required to be included in a post-effective amendment by those clauses is contained in reports filed with or furnished to the Commission by the Registrant pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 that are incorporated by reference in the Registration Statement, or is contained in a form of prospectus filed pursuant to Rule 424(b) that is part of the Registration Statement.

- (2) That, for the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each such post-effective amendment shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.
- (3) To remove from registration by means of a post-effective amendment any of the securities being registered which remain unsold at the termination of the offering.
- (4) To file a post-effective amendment to the registration statement to include any financial statements required by Item 8.A of Form 20-F at the start of any delayed offering or throughout a continuous offering. Financial statements and information otherwise required by Section 10(a)(3) of the Securities Act need not be furnished, provided that the Registrant includes in the prospectus, by means of a post-effective amendment, financial statements required pursuant to this paragraph (a)(4) and other information necessary to ensure that all other information in the prospectus is at least as current as the date of those financial statements. Notwithstanding the foregoing, with respect to registration statements on Form F-3, a post-effective amendment need not be filed to include financial statements and information required by Section 10(a)(3) of the

Securities Act or Rule 3-19 of Regulation S-K if such financial statements and information are contained in periodic reports filed with or furnished to the SEC by the Registrant pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 that are incorporated by reference in this Form F-3.

- (5) That, for the purpose of determining liability under the Securities Act of 1933 to any purchaser:
 - (i) each prospectus filed by the Registrant pursuant to Rule 424(b)(3) shall be deemed to be part of the registration statement as of the date the filed prospectus was deemed part of and included in the registration statement; and
 - (ii) each prospectus required to be filed pursuant to Rule 424(b)(2), (b)(5) or (b)(7) as part of a registration statement in reliance on Rule 430B relating to an offering made pursuant to Rule 415(a)(1)(i), (vii) or (x) for the purpose of providing the information required by section 10(a) of the Securities Act of 1933 shall be deemed to be part of and included in the registration statement as of the earlier of the date such form of prospectus is first used after effectiveness or the date of the first contract of sale of securities in the offering described in the prospectus. As provided in Rule 430B, for liability purposes of the issuer and any person that is at that date an underwriter, such date shall be deemed to be a new effective date of the registration statement relating to the securities in the registration statement to which that prospectus relates, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof. Provided, however, that no statement made in a registration statement or prospectus that is part of the registration statement or made in a document incorporated or deemed incorporated by reference into the registration statement or prospectus that is part of the registration statement will, as to a purchaser with a time of contract of sale prior to such effective date, supersede or modify any statement that was made in the registration statement or prospectus that was part of the registration statement or made in any such document immediately prior to such effective date.
- (6) That, for the purpose of determining liability of the Registrant under the Securities Act of 1933 to any purchaser in the initial distribution of the securities:

The undersigned Registrant undertakes that in a primary offering of securities of the undersigned Registrant pursuant to this registration statement, regardless of the underwriting method used to sell the securities to the purchaser, if the securities are offered or sold to such purchaser by means of any of the following communications, the undersigned Registrant will be a seller to the purchaser and will be considered to offer or sell such securities to such purchaser:

- (i) any preliminary prospectus or prospectus of the undersigned Registrant relating to the offering required to be filed pursuant to Rule 424;
- (ii) any free writing prospectus relating to the offering prepared by or on behalf of the undersigned Registrant or used or referred to by the undersigned Registrant;
- (iii) the portion of any other free writing prospectus relating to the offering containing material information about the undersigned Registrant or its securities provided by or on behalf of the undersigned Registrant; and
- (iv) any other communication that is an offer in the offering made by the undersigned Registrant to the purchaser.
- (b) The undersigned Registrant hereby undertakes that, for purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act, each filing of the Registrant's annual report pursuant to Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (and where applicable, each filing of an employee benefit plan's annual report pursuant to section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) that is

incorporated by reference in the Registration Statement shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.

(c) Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act may be permitted to directors, officers and controlling persons of the Registrant pursuant to the foregoing provisions, or otherwise, the Registrant has been advised that in the opinion of the SEC, such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act, and is, therefore, unenforceable. In the event that a claim for indemnification against such liabilities (other than the payment by the Registrant of expenses incurred or paid by a director, officer or controlling person of the Registrant in the successful defense of any action, suit or proceeding) is asserted by such director, officer or controlling person in connection with the securities being registered, the Registrant will, unless in the opinion of its counsel the matter has been settled by controlling precedent, submit to a court of appropriate jurisdiction the question whether such indemnification by it is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and will be governed by the final adjudication of such issue.

EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit	Description
1.1**	Form of Equity Securities Underwriting Agreement
1.2**	Form of Debt Securities Underwriting Agreement
4.1	Deposit Agreement among the Registrant, Citibank N.A., as depositary, and all Holders and Beneficial Owners of American Depositary Shares issued thereunder, including the form of American Depositary Receipt.
4.2*	Shareholders' Agreement, dated September 1, 2017, among TRIP Participações S.A., TRIP Investimentos Ltda., Rio Novo Locações Ltda., Calfinco Inc., Hainan Airlines Holding Co., Ltd. and David Gary Neeleman and as intervening and consenting party, Azul S.A. (previously filed on Form 6-K (File No. 001-38049) as filed with the SEC on September 5, 2017 and incorporated by reference herein).
4.3*	Fifth Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of August 3, 2016, among Azul S.A. and the signatories thereunder. (previously filed as Exhibit 4.3 of our registration statement on Form F-1 (File No. 333-215908) as filed with the SEC on February 6, 2017 and incorporated by reference herein).
4.4	Form of Indenture.
4.5**	Form of Debt Securities.
5.1	Opinion of Pinheiro Neto Advogados, Brazilian legal counsel of the Registrant, as to the legality of the preferred shares.
5.2	Opinion of Shearman & Sterling LLP, US legal counsel of the Registrant, as to the legality of the debt securities.
23.1	Consent of Ernst & Young Auditores Independentes S. S.
23.2	Consent of Pinheiro Neto Advogados, Brazilian legal counsel of the Registrant (included in Exhibit 5.1).
23.3	Consent of Shearman & Sterling LLP, US legal counsel of the Registrant (included in Exhibit 5.2).
24.1	Powers of Attorney (included on signature page to the Registration Statement).
25.1***	Form T-1 Statement of Eligibility and Qualification under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939.

^{*} Previously filed.

^{**} To be filed as an exhibit to a post-effective amendment to this registration statement or as an exhibit to a report filed or furnished under the Exchange Act and incorporated by reference.

^{***} Where applicable, to be filed subsequently in accordance with Section 305(b)(2) of the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the Registrant certifies that it has reasonable grounds to believe that it meets all of the requirements for filing on Form F-3 and has duly caused this Registration Statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Barueri, São Paulo, Brazil, on June 25, 2018.

AZUL S.A.

By: /s/ ALEXANDRE WAGNER MALFITANI

Alexandre Wagner Malfitani Chief Financial Officer

POWER OF ATTORNEY

Each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints each of John Peter Rodgerson and Alexandre Wagner Malfitani as his or her true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him or her and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any or all amendments (including post-effective amendments) to this Registration Statement and any and all related registration statements pursuant to Rule 462(b) of the Securities Act, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto, and other documents in connection therewith, with the SEC, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorney-in-fact and agent, or its substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, this Registration Statement has been signed by the following persons in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature	Title	Date
/s/ JOHN PETER RODGERSON John Peter Rodgerson	Chief Executive Officer	June 25, 2018
/s/ ALEXANDRE WAGNER MALFITANI Alexandre Wagner Malfitani	Chief Financial Officer	June 25, 2018
/s/ Mariana Cambiaghi Lourenço Mariana Cambiaghi Lourenço	Controller	June 25, 2018
/s/ DAVID GARY NEELEMAN David Gary Neeleman	Director	June 25, 2018
/s/ José Mario Caprioli dos Santos José Mario Caprioli dos Santos	Director	June 25, 2018
/s/ SÉRGIO ERALDO DE SALLES PINTO Sérgio Eraldo de Salles Pinto	Director	June 25, 2018

Signature	11110	Date
/s/ CAROLYN LUTHER TRABUCO Carolyn Luther Trabuco	Director	June 25, 2018
/s/ GELSON PIZZIRANI Gelson Pizzirani	Director	June 25, 2018
/s/ RENAN CHIEPPE Renan Chieppe	Director	June 25, 2018
/s/ DECIO LUIZ CHIEPPE Decio Luiz Chieppe	Director	June 25, 2018
/s/ MICHAEL LAZARUS Michael Lazarus	Director	June 25, 2018
/s/ JOHN RAY GEBO John Ray Gebo	Director	June 25, 2018
/s/ HENRI COURPRON Henri Courpron	Director	June 25, 2018
/s/ NENG LI Neng Li	Director	June 25, 2018
/s/ STEWART GORDON SMITH Stewart Gordon Smith	Director	June 25, 2018
/s/ COLLEEN A. DE VRIES Colleen A. De Vries SVP on behalf of Cogency Global Inc.	Authorized U.S. Representative	June 25, 2018

Title

Date

Signature

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

Under the Securities Act, the undersigned, the duly authorized representative in the United States of Azul S.A., has signed this registration statement in New York, New York, on June 25, 2018.

By: /s/ Colleen A. De Vries

Colleen A. De Vries SVP on behalf of Cogency Global Inc. Authorized Representative in the United States